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corporate overviewcorporate overview

overviewCORPORATE

mission
we make our Gardens the leisure 
destination of choice for all

we delight our guests with an 
enthralling experience, excellent 
service and enriching programmes

we inspire pride of ownership of our 
Gardens in every singaporean

we aim to be a model of sustainable 
development and conservation

vision
our world of gardens for all to own, 
enjoy and cherish
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CHAIRMAN’S

mRs ThEREsA fOOmessage

cHairMan’s MessaGecHairMan’s MessaGe

these include intensifying experimentation 
and research efforts to introduce plants 
that have not been displayed en masse in 
singapore, such as cherry blossoms, lupins 
and foxgloves in the Blossom Beats and 
Flowery Fun times with nursery rhymes  
floral displays respectively; injecting new 
elements into popular programmes to make 
them even better, as seen in the second 
edition of christmas wonderland; and 
refreshing the landscaping so that there 
is always something new waiting to be 
discovered at the Gardens, be it the Floral 
clock which was unveiled in august 2015 
or the new sculpture pieces dotting the 
landscape in the conservatories and outdoor 
gardens.

reinforcing the people’s garden identity 
remains a high priority for the Gardens, 
with proactive measures taken to promote 
greater visitation round the year. Leveraging 
on the Golden Jubilee celebratory mood of 
the nation, special ticketing promotions  
were introduced to encourage local resi-
dents and seniors to visit the conservatories. 
attractive promotions for the Friends of the 
Gardens (FoG) membership were also rolled 
out which helped to grow our membership 
base significantly by 68% to over 23,600 
members in the 2015 financial year.

e had an exhilarating 
year which saw the 
Gardens attaining many 

remarkable achievements in 
several areas. we continue to 
reinforce the Gardens brand 
as a world-class horticultural 
attraction by improving our 
existing offerings in the 
Gardens. 

W

while plant displays remain our core 
business, programming plays an essential 
role in reaching out to our visitors, adding 
vibrancy to the Gardens and strengthening 
the people’s garden identity. our range of 
inclusive programmes – from signature 
events, concerts and music festivals, to  
movie screenings, lifestyle and sports  
events, to educational workshops and  
school holiday programmes – have 
successfully drawn a wide spectrum of 
visitors to the Gardens. 
all in all, over 2.1 million 
attended our festivals 
and events, making 
the Gardens one of the 
country’s most popular 
leisure and recreation 
spaces. 

additionally, the Gardens 
achieved a total visitorship 
of over 24.4 million since 
inception. and from 
a nation-wide survey 
conducted in 2015, the 
Gardens garnered a visitor 
satisfaction rate of 88%. 
these are commendable 
achievements given the 
challenges and demands faced by the team 
from higher visitorship in the reporting 
financial year. i am also tremendously 
heartened by the accolades and awards 
that were bestowed upon the Gardens, 
even as we progressed through our fourth 
year of operations. these awards, such as 
Facebook’s top 20 Most checked-in places 

in the world and Best themed attraction at 
the 2015 ttG travel asia awards, recognise 
the efforts put into ensuring that Gardens 
by the Bay continuously stays on top of the 
game as a world-class garden attraction.

notwithstanding these achievements, the 
Gardens has yet to reach steady state as 
an established destination. Hence we are 
constantly refreshing our appeal, exploring 
exciting new ideas that could be brought 

into the Gardens. 
possibilities such as an 
elders’ garden and a new 
attraction at the former 
site of the Future of Us 
exhibition are on the 
drawing board, while a 
new attraction featuring 
attractive stonescapes 
will be unveiled in the 
later part of the coming 
financial year.

the Gardens still has 
plenty of potential and 
we have an exciting 
journey ahead of us. i 
would like to take this 
opportunity to thank 

our partners, sponsors, volunteers, friends 
and staff of Gardens by the Bay for their 
unwavering support and dedication. My 
heartfelt appreciation also goes to my fellow 
Directors for their counsel and service on the 
Board. i look forward to another rewarding 
year with all at the Gardens.

reinforcing 
the people’s garden 

identity remains a high 
priority for the Gardens, 
with proactive measures 
taken to promote greater 
visitation round the year.
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dR KiAT w. TAnmessage

cHieF eXecUtive oFFicer’s MessaGecHieF eXecUtive oFFicer’s MessaGe

CHIef exeCutIve offICeR’S

a multi-pronged approach together with 
a strong collective effort from the team 
contributed to this sterling outcome. Firstly, 
in our floral displays, we presented bold and 
visually exciting displays, combining careful 
selection of flowers and plants with creative 
landscaping to produce the desired effect. 
the result is apparent – all the floral displays 
staged in the reporting year are among the 
top 10 most popular displays, with Blossom 
Beats, our inaugural showcase of cherry 
blossoms, taking the top position. 

secondly, we introduced new services and 
initiated improvements to enhance the visitor 
experience. an additional entrance area – 
Bayfront plaza – was opened to serve visitors 
arriving from Bayfront Mrt station. this 
facility, which comes with a shuttle service 
station and visitor information and ticketing 
counters, enhances the sense of arrival for 
those who take the train to the Gardens. 
Free guided tours on the floral displays 
were introduced as a value-added service 
and to promote plant appreciation among 
our visitors. we completed a successful 
trial run of the auto rider in December 
2015. the autonomous vehicles will offer 
a novel experience for visitors come June 
2016. Meanwhile, improvement works were  
carried out at the Far east organization 
children’s Garden to ensure that the 
facilities remain in optimal condition. the 
shuttle service’s operating hours were also  
extended in response to visitor feedback. 
these enhancements are essential in 
providing our visitors with the best possible 
experience each time they are at the  
Gardens.

e had an eventful journey 
in the 2015 financial year. 
the Gardens achieved our 

highest annual visitor numbers 
recorded since opening in June 
2012. we welcomed over 8.8 
million visitors for the reporting 
year, a 29% increase from the 
previous year.  

thirdly, we continue to push the boundaries 
in research and experimentation to advance 
horticulture at the Gardens. Flower trials 
were carried out to identify potential new 
plants for showcase in the floral displays. 
some of the positive outcomes include 
cherry blossoms, dahlias and lupins. 
research and development (r&D) efforts 
had also been expended on the Gardens’ 
orchid breeding programme, which focuses 
on three main areas: hybridisation of 
lowland orchids for planting in the outdoor 
gardens, hybridisation of highland orchids 
for planting in the cloud Forest, and creation 
of intermediate orchids that are suitable 
for both the outdoor gardens and the cloud 
Forest. successful hybrids are also used as 
part of our floral displays in the Flower Dome 
as well as for participating in international 
orchid shows and competitions. 

we continue to explore new means of 
making the Gardens accessible to all. a 
significant achievement is the launch of 
the expanded Gift of Gardens programme 
in June 2015. now all voluntary welfare 
organisations (vwos) providing direct social 
services to beneficiaries and holders of the 
comcare Long term assistance scheme 
card and the Development Disability registry 
card receive complimentary admission  
to the conservatories while accompanying 
caregivers can enjoy 50% discount off the 
ticket price. this programme ensures that no 
one is deprived of a visit to the Gardens and 
has since enabled over 16,000 beneficiaries 
from 253 vwos to enjoy the Gardens, a 
marked increase from previous years. 

notwithstanding the afore-mentioned im-
provements and new initiatives, our work  
is far from complete. to maintain our  
standard of service, plans are in place to 
channel some of the Gardens’ financial 
resources towards infrastructural improve-
ments and development. For instance, 
visitors can look forward to a new specialty 
garden across the sun pavilion and the Far 
east organization children’s Garden, which 
will be anchored by a uniquely-designed 
rockscape. this is slated for unveiling in the 
fourth quarter of 2016. plans to set aside an 
area dedicated to our senior visitors are also 
being explored. 

the attraction and leisure industry is 
highly competitive, and we must constantly 
challenge ourselves to offer our visitors 
a better proposition in comparison to  
other attractions, gardens and parks. while 
leveraging upon advances in technology to 
enable us to meet our visitors’ needs and 
improve our operational productivity, we 
continue to remain vigilant and nimble in 
responding and adapting to our external 
environment while keeping an eye on our 
financial performance. this is the reality of 
the industry.

on this note, my team and i look forward to 
another fruitful year with our stakeholders 
to make Gardens by the Bay blossom further 
in the coming year.

W
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Directors
bOARd Of

Mr Gerald tan is the Head of 
Legal, asia, icBc standard 
Bank pLc, singapore Branch. 
He is a senior legal and banking 
professional with over 18 years 
of experience in legal private 
practice, risk management, 
commodities trading, banking 
and finance. 

Mr tan was a recipient of the 
pre-University scholarship for 
the study of the Humanities 
awarded by the public service 
commission, singapore  
(1986 - 1987).

Mr Kenneth er is the ceo of the 
national parks Board (nparks). 
He also sits on the boards of the 
tropical Marine science institute 
(nUs) and singapore Garden 
city pte Ltd. Mr er previously 
served as chief operating officer 
of Gardens by the Bay, and 
played a critical role in bringing 
together the latest sustainable 
technologies into the design and 
operations of the Gardens. 

a forest ecologist by training, 
Mr er has deep interests in 
conservation biology, with 
emphasis on the design and 
management of nature reserves 
within an urban landscape. 
He has published in several 
international journals and 
presented at various conferences 
over the years. He was awarded 
the public service Medal 
(Bronze) in 2007.

Mrs theresa Foo is the 
chairman of Gardens by the Bay 
and concurrently the chairman 
of the singapore Business 
Federation Foundation. she 
sits on the boards of various 
companies including the Boards 
of trustees of the singapore 
national employers Federation 
and the singapore Business 
Federation.

Mrs Foo was an established 
and renowned banker with 
many firsts, including the first 
asian female chief executive 
appointed by standard 
chartered Bank singapore. she 
was also awarded the public 
service star Medal in 2008 and 
the prestigious Meritorious 
service Medal in 2014 by the 
president of the republic of 
singapore for her contributions 
to the singapore community.

Mr tan wah Yeow is the Deputy 
Managing partner of KpMG in 
singapore, and KpMG’s Head 
of Healthcare and Life sciences 
in the asia pacific region. He 
has been with KpMG since 
1984 and was admitted into the 
partnership in 1995. 

Mr tan has over 20 years of 
experience in audit and advisory 
work for private companies, 
public-listed entities and 
government organisations. He 
is heavily engaged in public 
and social services through his 
many years of voluntary work.

Mr Quek suan Kiat was the 
vice chairman and country 
Manager of Barclays Bank 
pLc singapore. He also 
served concurrently as the 
regional chief operating 
officer of the offices in china, 
Korea, Malaysia, thailand and 
indonesia. 

Mr Quek is a Fellow of 
the institute of singapore 
chartered accountants and 
cpa australia. He also holds a 
Bachelor of accountancy from 
the University of singapore.

mR gERAld TAn KwOng ming mR KEnnETh ER mRs ThEREsA fOO mR TAn wAh yEOw mR quEK suAn KiAT

(FroM 1 DeceMBer 2011) (FroM 17 FeBrUarY 2014)
cHairMan
(FroM 11 noveMBer 2011) (FroM 1 DeceMBer 2013) (FroM 1 DeceMBer 2011)
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Mrs Mildred tan is the 
Managing Director of ernst & 
Young advisory pte Ltd. she 
has over 25 years of experience 
in organisation development 
and extensive experience in 
business advisory.

Mrs tan was a nominated 
Member of parliament. she was 
conferred Justice of the peace 
in 2008 and awarded the public 
service Medal (pingkat Bakti 
Masyarakat) in 2007 as well as 
the public service star (Bintang 
Bakti Masyarakat) in 2014.

Mr Yap chin siang is the 
assistant chief executive 
overseeing the policy and 
planning Group of the 
singapore tourism Board (stB). 

Mr Yap currently also sits on 
the boards of the singapore 
productivity centre and 
sHatec institutes pte Ltd, 
and is a member of the 
republic polytechnic school of 
Hospitality advisory committee.

Dr Kiat w. tan is the ceo of 
Gardens by the Bay and the 
advisor to the national parks 
Board of singapore. 

Dr tan is a vice president with 
the royal Horticultural society 
and author of several books 
and numerous articles on 
parks, gardens and orchids. He 
is a noted speaker on botany, 
horticulture and green space 
development. 

Mr ang Hak seng is the chief 
executive Director of the 
people’s association (pa), and 
champions social cohesion  
and racial harmony. with 
a passion for community 
development, he works with 
1,800 grassroots organisations 
to make singapore a great 
home and caring community. 

Mr ang has vast experience 
in Business excellence 
and is an avid organisation 
Development practitioner. He is 
also currently chairman of the 
singapore Quality award (sQa) 
Management committee. 

Dr tan was conferred public 
administration Medals 
(silver and Gold), the Medal 
for Meritorious service and 
the Distinguished service 
order (Darjah Utama Bakti 
cemerlang) by the singapore 
Government. He is the first 
recipient of the world orchid 
conference trust Medal, 
and was presented with the 
american orchid society’s Gold 
Medal achievement award, 
the Fellowship of the orchid 
society of south east asia, 
and the royal Horticultural 
society’s veitch Memorial Gold 
Medal. Dr tan also received 
the president’s award for the 
environment in 2011.

Mr wong siew Hoong is the 
Director-General of education 
in the Ministry of education 
(Moe), singapore. He holds 
a Master of education from 
Harvard University. 

Mr wong is also chairman for 
the Board of seaMeo regional 
Language centre and sits on 
the Governing Board of the 
singapore international school 
in Hong Kong, the singapore 
examinations and assessment 
Board and the national arts 
council. He was conferred the 
public administration Medal 
(Gold) in 2012.

Directors

mRs mildREd TAn mR yAP Chin siAng dR KiAT w. TAn 

(FroM 1 DeceMBer 2013) (FroM 1 JUne 2013)
cHieF eXecUtive oFFicer
(FroM 11 noveMBer 2011)

mR Ang hAK sEng

(FroM 1 DeceMBer 2013)

mR wOng siEw hOOng

(FroM 20 JULY 2012)
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Mr Lim neo chian is the 
Deputy chairman of Gardens 
by the Bay. He also chairs the 
ascendas Hospitality trust and 
the agri-Food and veterinary 
authority of singapore (ava). 

Mr Lim holds board 
memberships in the singapore 
cruise centre, innospring 
Development and the Home 
nursing Foundation. He 
was conferred the public 
administration Medal (Gold)
(Military) in 1993, an Honorary 
Doctorate in engineering by 
sheffield University, UK, in 1996 
and the public administration 
Medal (Gold) in 2003.

Ms chang Hwee nee is 
Deputy secretary (planning) 
at the Ministry of national 
Development where she 
oversees the policies, plans and 
programmes for the physical 
development of singapore. 

Ms chang also sits on the 
national Heritage Board. 

Mr John tan is president of the 
singapore Gardening society 
and a Director of the singapore 
chinese Girls’ school (scGs) 
and several private companies 
in Malaysia and singapore.

Mr tan was awarded gold and 
silver medals by the Ministry of 
education for over 20 years of 
service as a Director of scGs. 
Mr tan was also awarded the 
pingat Bakti Masyarakat (pBM) 
by the president of singapore 
in november 2013 for his 
contribution to public service 
under the national parks Board 
as well as his over 30 years of 
contribution to and support of 
plant introduction and botany 
publications. 

Ms ruth Yeoh is the executive 
Director at YtL singapore 
where she heads YtL Group’s 
sustainability division, and the 
Director at YtL-sv carbon, 
YtL’s in-house carbon credit 
and clean development 
mechanism consultancy.
 
Ms Yeoh sits on the Board of 
rare conservation and reef 
check Malaysia and the Board 
of trustees at Kew Foundation. 
she also serves as a Member 
of the advisory Board of the 
Malaysian association in 
singapore (Masis) and the Un 
women singapore executive 
Board, and represents 
singapore as one of the Global 
Goodwill ambassadors for 
Dignity for the children’s 
Foundation.

Mr syed Zakir Hussain is 
political editor at the straits 
times and author of several 
publications. He was a recipient 
of the singapore press Holdings 
scholarship and has a Masters 
of science in Journalism from 
columbia University.

Mr Zakir Hussain is also 
a council member of the 
singapore chamber of 
commerce indonesia.

mR lim nEO ChiAn ms ChAng hwEE nEE mR jOhn TAn jiEw hOE, Pbm ms RuTh yEOh PEi ChEEn mR syEd ZAKiR hussAin
DepUtY cHairMan
(FroM 1 DeceMBer 2011)

 
(FroM 11 noveMBer 2011)

 
(FroM 1 DeceMBer 2013)

 
(FroM 1 DeceMBer 2015)

 
(FroM 1 DeceMBer 2015)

Directors
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ManaGeMent teaMManaGeMent teaM

ms mAy yEO
DepUtY Director, HUMan 
resoUrce & aDMinistration
(tiLL 4 JULY 2016)

mR RAlf jOsEf gREsCh
DepUtY Director,  
visitor services

mR dARREn Oh
Director, BUsiness 
DeveLopMent

ms PRisCA TEh
Director, retaiL 
ManaGeMent

mR Andy KwEK
Director, conservatorY 
operations & enGineerinG

mR ng bOOn gEE
Director, GarDens 
operations

mR jAsOn KOO
DepUtY Director, 
ticKetinG & attractions 
operations

ms PEggy ChOng
DepUtY cHieF eXecUtive 
oFFicer

dR KiAT w. TAn
cHieF eXecUtive oFFicer

ms bETTy PAu
Director, Finance & 
inForMation tecHnoLoGY

mR AlEx lEE  
DepUtY Director,  
enGineerinG

ms miChEllE lim
DepUtY Director,  
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mR jAsOn lEE
DepUtY Director, 
DeveLopMent & pLanninG
(tiLL 3 JULY 2016)
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corporate overview

information structureCORPORATE ORgAnisATiOnAl

Charity Registration Number
201132829n

Charity Registration Date
26 March 2012

Constitution
public company Limited by 
Guarantee

Date of Incorporation
11 november 2011

Registered Address
one Marina Boulevard, #28-00 
singapore 018989

UEN
201132829n

ChARiTy sTATus

18 Marina Gardens Drive  
singapore 018953

PlACE Of businEss

Effective Period 
1 april 2014 to 31 March 2017

iPC sTATus

Deloitte & touche LLp
 
audit partner:  
Ms patricia Lee Kuang Hong

ExTERnAl AudiTORs

Foo Kon tan advisory services pte Ltd

inTERnAl AudiTORs

Mr Desmond Lee Heng choong
Ms Khoong Lai Kheng

COmPAny sECRETARy

ocBc Bank
DBs Bank 
UoB Bank

PRinCiPAl bAnKERs

dR KiAT w. TAn 
cHieF eXecUtive oFFicer

fElix lOh
cHieF operatinG oFFicer

PEggy ChOng
DepUtY cHieF eXecUtive oFFicer

dARREn Oh
Director

Business Development

Ong Chui lEng
Director

Programming

PRisCA TEh
Director

Retail Management

PhAn yOKE fEi
Director
(FroM 11 JULY 2016)

Human Resource & 
Administration

bETTy PAu
Director

Finance & 
Information Technology

miChEllE lim
DepUtY Director

Public Relations &  
Corporate Communications

Corporate Development

Andy KwEK
Director

Conservatory Operations

Development & Planning

Design

Andy KwEK

AlEx lEE
Director

DepUtY Director

Engineering

ng bOOn gEE

AnTOn vAn dER sChAns
Director

principaL HorticULtUrist

Gardens Operations

jAsOn KOO
DepUtY Director

Ticketing &  
Attractions Operations

RAlf jOsEf gREsCh
DepUtY Director

Visitor Services

Research & Horticulture
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Gardens by the Bay (the company) was incorporated on 11 november 2011 
under the companies act (cap 50) of singapore as a public company limited  
by guarantee (registration number 201132829n), and its governing instrument 
is its Memorandum and articles of association. 

the company is committed to high standards of corporate governance, 
professionalism and integrity to safeguard the best interest of its stakeholders. 
a good corporate governance structure with clear internal control systems, 
reporting and responsibility lines and procedures is essential for the  
company as it moves towards its vision to be a people’s garden and a  
world-class attraction.

Governance Evaluation Checklist

the company has adopted the best practices 
in key areas of governance that are aligned 
to the principles and guidelines set out in 
the code of Governance for charities and 
institutions of a public character (ipcs) (the 
“code”). in line with the charity council’s 
requirement for all ipcs to disclose the 
extent of their compliance with the code, the 
company’s Governance evaluation checklist 
can be found at the charity portal website 
www.charities.gov.sg.

Board of Directors

Helming the company is the Gardens by the 
Bay Board with 15 members chaired by Mrs 
theresa Foo. all Board members, including 
the chairman, are non-executive with the 
exception of the chief executive officer of the 
company. this ensures Board independence 
from management. each Board member 
brings with him/her independent judgement 
on issues of strategy, performance, resource 

governance
CORPORATE

allocation, risk and compliance, as well 
as valuable relationships and networks 
which are of strategic importance to the 
company. three committees have been 
set up to support the Board, namely the 
nominating committee (the “nc”), the 
audit and risk committee (the “arc”), 
and the remuneration and compensation 
committee (the “rc”). 

the Board is responsible for setting the 
strategic direction of the company, ensuring 
that the company acts in the furtherance of 
its objects which are set out in the governing 
instrument and properly accounts for and 
safeguards the funds and assets of the 
company. the Board works closely with 
the management and stakeholders of the 
company to shape the vision and chart the 
major directions. the Board also approves 
the annual and supplementary budgets, 
the annual audited financial statements of 
the company and the use of the company’s 
reserves, among other responsibilities. the 
company is committed to lawful and ethical 

behaviour in all its activities and requires  
that its Board, employees and volunteers 
conduct themselves in a manner that 
complies with all applicable laws of 
singapore and internal policies.

the Board meets on a quarterly basis, 
and as and when required. to facilitate the 
participation by members of the Board and 
committees, the articles of association of  
the company allows the Board’s or 
committees’ meetings to be held via 
conference telephone or a videoconference 
telephone or similiar communications 
equipment; decisions can also be made 
by way of resolutions passed via writing in 
lieu of physical meetings. the committees 
operate based on the principle of delegated 
authority from the Board and they are 
required to observe their respective terms 
of reference as set out by the Board. where 
necessary, non-Board members who have 
expertise in their respective fields may be 
invited to participate in the deliberations and 
decision-making process.

the roles of the committees are briefly 
described below: 
 
Nominating Committee (NC) 

the nc reviews regularly the composition 
of the Board and Board committees. the 
nc identifies, reviews and recommends 
board appointments for approval by the 
Board, taking into account the experience, 
expertise, knowledge and skills of the 
candidate and the needs of the Board. it also 
determines the independence of proposed 
and existing directors, and assesses if each 
proposed and/or existing director is a fit and 
proper person and is qualified for the office 
of director. 

one committee meeting was held during the 
financial year:

chairman
Mrs theresa Foo 

Members
Ms chang Hwee nee 
Mrs Mildred tan 
Dr Kiat w. tan 

the nc conducts on an annual basis an 
evaluation of the performance of the 
Board and the directors. this qualitative 
assessment of the Board’s performance was 
carried out through the completion of an 
assessment form by each director covering 
areas such as the size and composition of the 
Board, effectiveness of the Board, strategic 
planning, and the management of risks and 
internal controls.

the assessment of individual directors is 
done through a self-assessment system 
and assessment criteria include attendance 
record, preparedness and participation in 
board discussions as well as contributions in 
specialised areas. 

the results of both evaluations were 
reviewed by the nc and a summary of 
the findings were shared with the Board, 
together with any action plans to address 
areas that need improvement. the nc is 
satisfied that sufficient time and attention 
are being given by the directors to the affairs 
of the company. 

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) 

the arc comprises five non-executive 
directors. it is tasked with ensuring the 
integrity of the financial statements through 
its oversight of the company’s financial 
reporting issues, budgeting, adequacy of 
internal controls as well as the internal 
and external audit functions. the arc can 
investigate any matters within its purview as 
it deems appropriate.
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the arc reviews the selection and 
appointment of internal and external 
auditors, the internal and external audit 
plans, and the company’s risk management 
and internal control policies. the arc 
meets up with the auditors in the absence of 
management once a year.

the arc members in office as at the date of 
this report are as follows:

chairman
Mr tan wah Yeow  
(appointed 1 December 2015)

Members 
Mr ang Hak seng
Mr Kenneth er   
Mr Quek suan Kiat 
Mr Yap chin siang

the arc held five meetings during the 
financial year. 

the company has a whistle Blowing policy 
which sets out the procedures for all staff  
to report concerns of malpractices, 
impropriety, non-compliance or any wrong-
doing witnessed in the course of work. 
it provides assurance that staff will be 
protected from reprisals for whistleblowing 
in good faith and without malice. all cases 
reported will be objectively investigated and 
appropriate follow-up action will be taken 
accordingly. reports on wrongdoings can 
be sent to the chairman of the audit and 
risk committee. incidents may also be 
reported to chief executive officer, Deputy 
chief executive officer, chief operating 
officer or Director/Human resource and 
administration.

Remuneration and Compensation 
Committee (RC) 

the rc comprises four non-executive and 
independent directors. the rc exercises 
policy oversight of the human capital 
planning, and advises on matters pertaining 

to the human resource strategies and 
directions of the company. the key areas 
of focus include compensation framework, 
recruitment and retention of staff, talent 
management, and succession planning for 
key appointments.

the rc is the approving authority on annual 
salary adjustments and bonus payouts 
for staff, as well as the appointments and 
promotions of key appointment holders. 
the rc ensures policy oversight on major 
structural changes to the compensation 
framework, schemes of services and salary 
ranges that will be subjected to the Board’s 
approval. 

two committee meetings were held during 
the financial year:

chairman
Mr Lim neo chian 

Members 
Mr Gerald tan Kwong Ming 
Mrs Mildred tan 
Mr John tan Jiew Hoe  
(appointed 1 December 2015)

 
For this financial year, the rc approved 
the undergraduate scholarship framework 
and accorded scholarship/training awards 
to three staff. it also reviewed relevant 
compensation matrixes and performance 
indicators to recognise and reward 
staff’s effort toward the year’s corporate 
performance.

Board Meetings 

Board meetings are held on a quarterly basis 
to review the results and performance of the 
company and its plans and programmes. 
to facilitate meaningful participation, all 
Board and Board committee meetings are 
planned and scheduled well in advance, and 
materials for Board and Board committee 
meetings are circulated to members one 
week prior to meeting dates.

For the various Board committee meetings, 
besides the committee members, the 
meetings were also attended by Board 
chairman, chief executive officer, Deputy 
chief executive officer, chief operating 
officer, Finance and Heads of Departments 
where relevant.

the matrix on the number of Board and  
Board committee meetings held in the 
financial year and the attendance of directors 
during these meetings are shown in table 1.

The Company Leadership

the chief executive officer is accountable to 
the Board for the conduct, coordination and 
quality of all of the company’s programmes 

and for their future development. He is 
assisted by the Deputy chief executive 
officer and the chief operating officer. 

Managing Conflict of Interest 

Members of the Board and staff are required 
in their respective capacities to act at all 
times in the best interest of the company. 

all Board members are required to declare 
conflict of interest to the company at the 
start of the term of directorship, annually, 
or as soon as such conflict or the possibility 
of such conflict arises. Board members do 
not vote or participate in decision making 
on matters where they have a conflict of 
interest.

Board Meeting Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration and 
Compensation 

Committee

Audit and Risk 
Committee

Name Date of  
Appointment

Held Attendance Held Attendance Held Attendance Held Attendance

Mrs theresa Foo 11 nov 11 4 4 1 1 - - - -

Mr Lim neo chian 1 Dec 11 4 4 - - 2 2 - -

Ms chang Hwee nee 11 nov 11 4 4 1 1 - - - -

Dr Howard Foo shing Liang1 1 Dec 11 3 3 - - 1 1 - -

Dr Kiat w. tan 11 nov 11 4 3 1 1 - - - -

Mr Quek suan Kiat2 1 Dec 11 4 3 - - - - 5 5

Mr Gerald tan 1 Dec 11 4 4 - - 2 1 - -

Mr wong siew Hoong 20 Jul 12 4 2 - - - - - -

Mr Yap chin siang 1 Jun 13 4 3 - - - - 5 4

Mr ang Hak seng 1 Dec 13 4 3 - - - - 5 3

Mrs Mildred tan 1 Dec 13 4 2 1 0 2 2 - -

Mr tan wah Yeow3 1 Dec 13 4 4 - - - - 5 5

Mr John tan Jiew Hoe4 1 Dec 13 4 3 - - 1 1 - -

Mr Kenneth er 17 Feb 14 4 3 - - - - 5 2

Ms ruth Yeoh5 1 Dec 15 2 2 - - - - - -

Mr Zakir Hussain5 1 Dec 15 2 1 - - - - - -

1 stepped down from Board and remuneration and compensation committee on 1 December 2015
2 stepped down as chairman audit and risk committee on 1 December 2015
3 appointed as chairman audit and risk committee on 1 December 2015
4 appointed to remuneration and compensation committee on 1 December 2015
5 appointed to Board on 1 December 2015

Table 1
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and future plans. the company has set a  
minimum reserves fund as a safety net for 
operations and contingencies. the use of 
reserves shall be approved by the Board. 
reserves are invested in singapore dollar 
fixed deposits with banks approved by the  
Board.

Fund-Raising Practices 

the company does not actively solicit  
funds from the general public. it works  
with corporate and individual sponsors  
on donations for infrastructure improve-
ments, garden  aesthetics  and   outreach   
programmes. all collected donations are 
properly recorded and promptly deposited. 
the Board reviews the company’s spon-
sorship activities at its quarterly meetings.

Disclosure and Transparency 

the company makes available to its 
stakeholders an annual report that includes 
information on its corporate governance, 
programmes, activities, audited financial 
statements, Board members and executive 
management. the annual report is also 
published online via the company’s website.  
For the financial year, Board Directors did not 
receive any remuneration in their capacity 
as members of the Board. the remuneration 
of key management staff is disclosed in the 
bands of $100,000.

the number of key management in 
remuneration bands are as follows:

 1 april 2015 - 
31 March 2016

$650,000 to below $750,000 1
$550,000 to below $650,000 
$450,000 to below $550,000 
$350,000 to below $450,000 2
$250,000 to below $350,000 3
$150,000 to below $250,000 3

all employees are required to declare  
conflict of interest at the point of hire and 
annually. the procurement policy requires 
mandatory declaration by employees  
involved in the procurement of goods and 
services to avoid any conflict between 
their own interests and the interests of 
the company in dealing with its suppliers, 
customers and other third parties.

in addition, the company’s articles of 
association contain provisions for the 
management and avoidance of conflicts of 
interest by Board members. such provisions 
include (a) permitting a Board member, or 
a firm associated with the member, to act 
in any professional capacity (other than the 
office of auditor) for the company and to be 
remunerated for his professional services,  
(b) permitting a Board member to be 
interested in any transaction with the 
company provided that the member has 
declared the nature of the interest to the 
Board and abstained from participating in  
the Board’s decision in respect of the 
transaction concerned, (c) permitting a 
Board member to be reimbursed for all 
reasonable travelling expenses and such 
other reasonable expenses as may be 
incurred in attending and returning from 
meetings of the Board or of any committee 
or General Meeting or otherwise howsoever 
in or about the business of the company 
in the course of the performance of his 
duties as a Board member. the company’s 
articles of association also expressly 
stipulate that a Board member may be paid 
remuneration for his services rendered in 
his capacity as a Board member provided 
it is approved by the company in the 
General Meeting. For the financial years 
up to now, no remuneration has been paid 
to any Board Directors of the company in  
his/her capacity as a member of the Board.  

Reserves Management

the company has a reserves policy to ensure 
adequate reserves for financial stability 

Public Image
 
the company publishes information relating 
to its programmes, events and activities 
through various platforms that include its 
website, newsletters, marketing brochures, 
on-site posters, press advertisements and 
other collaterals. apart from engaging 
mainstream media to communicate our 
core messages and garner publicity for the 
Gardens, the company also uses social 
media to reach out to the digitally savvy. 
Media coverage on the Gardens is monitored 
and a summary is incorporated into the 
monthly activity report that is submitted to 
the Board.

Financial Overview 
for the Financial Year ended 31 March 2016

FY2015/16 was the company’s fourth year 
of operations. it was an eventful year for 
the Gardens as it was able to leverage on 
the singapore Golden Jubilee celebration 
(“sG50”), the singapore tourism Board’s 
global marketing campaign during the sG50 
year and the year-long sG50 initiatives  
led by the government of singapore. in 
addition, the Future of Us exhibition, the 
capstone event to round up the sG50 year  
of celebration, was held beside Gardens by 
the Bay.

Gardens by the Bay welcomed 24.4 million 
visitors from our opening in June 2012 to 
date (as at 31 March 2016), with the highest 
visitorship of 8.8 million in FY2015/16,  
2 million visitors more than the previous  
year. this translated to an increase in 
operating income. operating expenditure 
went up in tandem with higher visitorship 
as we had to upscale our operations to 
meet increased demands on our services. 
it included committing additional staff 
resources on key frontline and security 

needs, intensifying horticultural and 
facilities maintenance and improving exist-
ing infrastructure and amenities, displays 
and programmes, many of which took place 
in the freely-accessible outdoor gardens. 

rental of land and buildings of Bay south 
Garden increased when the licence with the 
Government was renewed during the year. 
it was matched by an equivalent amount in 
rental subvention. there was no impact on 
the bottom line.

the company as lessee is responsible for 
carrying out the cyclical maintenance of 
the rented premises of Bay south Garden, 
including revamping and rejuvenation works 
to be carried out to the rented premises. the 
company is also responsible for maintaining 
the state lands in the proximity of Gardens 
by the Bay.  expenses for the maintenance of 
state lands and revamping and rejuvenation 
were matched by equivalent grants.    
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Operating Expenses 
for the Financial Year ended 31 March 2016

33%

9%

4%

4%

6%

15% 22%

7%

notes
the expenses above exclude:

a. revamping and rejuvenation expenses – the company as lessee is responsible for carrying out the  
 cyclical maintenance of the rented premises, including but not limited to major upgrading and/or  
 replacement of mechanical and electrical systems, works relating to the revamping or rejuvenation  
 of landscaping and architecture and similar works to be carried out to the rented premises.

b. Maintenance of state lands – the Government appointed the company to maintain the state lands in  
 the proximity of Gardens by the Bay, including Bay east, as an interim garden.

Operating Income 
for the Financial Year ended 31 March 2016

 2016 2015

OPERATING INCOME $’000 % $’000 %

ticketing income 50,395 69 37,253 67

income from rentals & venue hires 7,641 10 6,603 12

income from education,  6,951  9  5,033  9
guided tours & merchandise    

Donations & sponsorships 5,159 7 4,564 8

carpark income 1,426 2 1,134 2

interest & other income 1,897 3 1,297 2

Total	 73,469	 100	 55,884	 100

 2016 2015

OPERATING ExPENsEs $’000 % $’000 %

staff & related expenses 29,891 33 25,478 33

Facilities maintenance & utilities 20,449 22 17,205 23

Horticultural works 13,636 15 10,591 14

Depreciation expense 6,195 7 5,662 7

Marketing & communications 5,518 6 5,033 7

rental for Bay south 3,836 4 3,020 4

community programmes 3,699 4 1,876 2

other expenses including 8,263 9 7,239 10
information technology

Total	 91,487	 100	 76,104	 100

3%
2%

7%

9%

69%

10%
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ChAPTER

Of jOy
blossoms

EnhAnCing hORTiCulTuRE And REsEARCh



BLossoMs oF JoYBLossoMs oF JoY

blOssOms Of jOy
plants stand at the centre of what we do. we regularly refresh our displays 
with exciting horticultural creations that delight our visitors and promote 
their appreciation of our plants. this is supported by our ongoing research 
programme to determine the optimal growing conditions for our plants to 
flourish, and to identify new plants that are suitable for display. 

EnhAnCing hORTiCulTuRE And REsEARCh

one traditional crowd pleaser is tulipmania. 
in 2015, the third installment of the annual 
event brought visitors into an enchanted 
fairytale world. spread over seven weeks, 
the display saw the widest collection of 
tulips to date, totalling 43 varieties. among 
these was tulipa ‘singapore’, a purple tulip 
named after our island. 

then, in celebration of singapore’s Jubilee 
year, we brought to life local folktales in 
From tales to Legends: Discover singapore 
stories. with orchids taking centrestage, 
the display by award-winning singapore 

landscape architect, Damian tang, also 
showcased scenes from singapore’s 
past. Making its maiden appearance at 
the Gardens in the first half of 2016 was  
Blossom Beats, an experimental display 
housing 23 cherry blossom cultivars and 120 
trees. the event represented a collaboration 
between the Gardens and the embassy of 
Japan, featuring many design elements from 
Japanese landscaping and culture.

other floral displays included Flowery Fun 
times with nursery rhymes, where well-
loved characters frolicked among lupins, 

delphiniums and foxgloves; celebration of 
chrysanthemums, which was inspired by 
the pastoral autumn scenes in classical east 
asian art; christmas toyland, a recreation 
of santa’s workshop surrounded by the 
season’s traditional flowers; and Dahlia 
Dreams, which marked the Lunar new Year 
with a tribute to the chinese classic novel, 
Journey to the west.

Blossoms showcased in the Blossom Beats floral display Lupins and foxgloves featured in the Flowery Fun times  
with nursery rhymes floral display

Enhancing Our Conservatories

at the cloud Forest, we introduced a new 
begonia display, Begonias of the cloud 
Forest, on 3 october 2015. supported by 
our Board Director and president of the 
singapore Gardening society, Mr John tan 
Jiew Hoe, pBM, the display is the result 
of an inter-departmental effort involving 
our conservatory operations, research 
and Horticulture and Design teams, and 
showcases diverse groups of begonias and 
their vibrant foliage and flowers.

the Flower Dome also saw new additions 
during the year. the australian Garden 
welcomed some 80 new types of plants 
from australia and new Zealand, including 
fascinating plants such as swainsona 
formosa, or the sturt’s Desert pea, which  
has unique big red flowers, as well as the  
lacy tree fern, cyathea cooperi. a rock 
formation extending over 20 metres was 
also installed in the australian Garden to  
add interest to the back wall. 

throughout the year, we continued to 
uphold the quality of our indoor horticultural 
displays through the regular maintenance 
of both conservatories. this involved the 
full spectrum of gardening and landscaping 
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work, ranging from daily cleaning of foot- 
paths to executing horticultural and 
arboricultural maintenance which included 
pruning, plant inspection, fertilising, 
trimming, pest control, turf management 
works and ad-hoc works such as tree 
transplanting, among others. the cloud 
Forest benefitted from a weekly fertigation 
schedule which included the addition of 
fertilisers, soil amendments and other 
water-soluble products into an irrigation 
system. the monthly dome closure days 
facilitated extensive cleaning, such as jet 
washing the floors and cleaning the water 
features, as well as large-scale works like 
tree transplanting and props removal.

with the health of our plant collection in  
mind, we regularly evaluate our key 
indicator plants. in addition, all incoming 
plants are checked for pests and diseases, 
and thoroughly evaluated by our specialists. 
the necessary follow up actions are then 
conducted on a case-by-case basis. our 
targeted fertiliser and integrated pest 
management regime helps mitigate plant 
health issues and control disease outbreaks.  

New Landscaping Works in the
Outdoor Gardens

over the year, we completed several outdoor 
landscaping projects, including the new 
Bayfront plaza. Located on the state land 
flanked by the Gardens and Marina Bay 
sands, the site was shaped into a peaceful, 
relaxing space surrounded by well-situated 
ponds and plants. Bioswales, decked with 
attractive aquatic plants, were used to 
channel stormwater into aquatic retention 
ponds. Meanwhile, mature trees were 
transplanted to form a canopy that shaded 
open spaces and paths, thus creating a 
comfortable, partially outdoor events space 
for all visitors. these trees included Ficus 
virens, a yellow cultivar known as samanea 
saman and Diospyros castanea.

specimen trees such as the classy plumeria, 
and the one and only erythrina variegata 
were also added to strengthen the modern 
architectural design of the newly-opened 
McDonald’s alfresco dining area. adding 

i love nature and the surroundings 
of Gardens by the Bay, especially 

the unique collection of baobab trees 
and cacti at the Flower Dome, the 
breathtaking views offered by the 
cloud Forest and the showcase of 
desert plants at the sun pavilion!

i visit the Gardens weekly, and 
more frequently when there are 

special floral displays. one of my 
fondest memories at the Gardens 
is witnessing the Flower Dome’s 
magical transformation as the 

sakuras burst into bloom during the 
setup of the Blossom Beats floral 

display. i also enjoyed the lovely and 
colourful tulipmania floral display. 
congratulations to the dedicated 

and hardworking team at Gardens 
by the Bay for doing an excellent

job each time!

liliAn KhO
Friends of the Gardens Member (senior)

our new begonia display in the cloud Forestthe sturt’s Desert pea, a new addition to the australian Garden

Flower Field Display Highlights

7 ThEmEd flORAl disPlAys sTAgEd in fy2015/16

75,000
tulipmania 2015

25,000
celebration of chrysanthemums

25,000
christmas toyland

25,000
Flowery Fun times with nursery rhymes 

28,000
From tales to Legends:  
Discover singapore stories

15,000
Dahlia Dreams

pLants

pLants

pLants

pLants

pLants

pLants

8,000
Blossom Beats

pLants
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to our rich tapestry of greenery is the new 
open lawn at the secret Life of trees themed 
garden, which enables visitors to enjoy 
unobstructed views of the supertree Grove. 

During the year in review, the Discovery 
Garden was also rejuvenated to heighten 
visitor experience. the upgrade included 
additional drainage and footpaths to better 
support plant growth and promote a more 
intimate experience with our plants. More 
types of plants that fit the pre-historic 
theme of the garden were introduced, thus 
strengthening its theme and adding to its 
overall ambience.

Research Highlights

the year in review saw considerable 
research effort into plant health and plant 
development. in particular, we experimented 
with growth regulators and climate control 
measures to bolster the flowering capability 
of plants such as prunus and wisteria. 
among our achievements during the year 
was the flowering of one of our century-old 

olive trees in the Flower Dome. By lowering 
the temperature of the Flower Dome in 
December 2014 to mimic its native winter 
climate, we succeeded in encouraging the 
tree to flower and eventually bear fruit in 
april 2015. 

in addition, we established numerous 
protocols for in-vitro propagation and tissue 
culture experiments in specific plants such 
as orchids and rare begonia varieties, among 
others. we also expanded our research 
programme on asia’s ferns. 

to advance academic sharing and promote 
professional exchanges, Memorandums of 
Understanding (MoUs) were inked with the 
Huntington Botanical Gardens, auckland 
Botanic Gardens and canada’s University of 
alberta. additionally, our participation in the 
international Botanical research congress 
from 6 to 11 December 2015 in Laos people’s 
Democratic republic birthed a number of 
collaborative opportunities, with one leading 
to the description of a new fern species from 
Myanmar. 

tree transplanting in progressthe upgraded Discovery Garden with improved drainage and additional footpaths new open lawn at the secret Life of trees

one of the aquatic retention ponds at Bayfront plaza

Biodiversity at the Gardens

28
Dragonfly/Damselfly species

108
Bird varieties

47
Butterfly species

1,420,802 
no. of plants in the Gardens

18,545 
no. of taxa

177
outdoor Gardens

259 
cloud Forest

154
Flower Dome

new  
taXa

new  
taXa

new  
taXa

New Plant Taxa Introduced in 
FY2015/16

our research team also continued to 
contribute extensively to publications and 
books during the year to showcase the 
Gardens’ research expertise both locally and 
internationally.  

Looking Ahead

in an effort to continually raise visitor 
experience, we have planned seven new 
floral displays featuring well-loved plants 
like cherry blossoms, tulips, agapanthus, 
alliums, orchids and poinsettias, among 
others. we will also be refreshing parts of  
the Flower Dome’s succulent Garden and 
olive terrace, and adding a new orchid 
display to the cloud Forest.

Moving forward in our research efforts, 
experiments will continue to be conducted 
at our Flower trials centre to determine 
the ideal flower types for future displays. 
experiments will also be carried out on 
selected plants to study how they are 
affected by light and temperature control, 
plant growth hormones and defoliation. 
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i look at ways of enhancing the cloud 
Forest’s displays through improving 
the interpretation and educational 
components, as well as the further 

development of our plant collections.

working at Gardens by the Bay  
has been rewarding. i’ve had the 

privilege of adding some personal 
touches to various parts of the 

Gardens, and the satisfaction of 
seeing the Gardens grow and evolve 
over time. in addition, i’ve had many 
opportunities to hone my problem-
solving and people-management 

skills, which have contributed towards 
my professional development.

i’m also glad to be part of this 
tremendous project! one of my fondest 

memories was seeing how the team 
came together for the implementation 

of our christmas toyland floral 
display. it was wonderful to see 

everyone supporting one another 
to get the work done, and it really 

made me feel good inside.

Dahlia Dreams floral display

staff conducting a plant tour in the Gardens

with the aim of creating new hybrids from 
the dahlia cultivars under cultivation, we will 
continue the dahlia breeding programme 
and evaluate the results. new equipment will 
also be added to our prototype glasshouses 
for better climate control to increase the 
efficacy of our plant experiments.

Ferns will also receive focus in the coming 
financial year. we aim to finalise an 
assessment of the Gardens’ fern collection 
and, in collaboration with the relevant 
departments, introduce a programme to 
enhance its display and interpretation.  
also in the pipeline is a revision of the 
adiantaceae (Maidenhair Fern family) for the 
Flora of peninsular Malaysia.

in the year ahead, we will continue to 
engage our international counterparts. in  
partnership with the singapore Botanic 
Gardens, an international palm society 
meeting is to be held at our premises in June 
2016. 

internally, our research team’s ongoing 
collaboration with the corporate 
communications team will see future plant-
themed articles in our staff newsletter, 
Baywatch. at the same time, we will 
conduct workshops on plant taxonomy and 
nomenclature that will leverage Baywatch’s 
previous plant taxonomy articles.

ChAd dAniEl dAvis
assistant Director, conservatory operations

with the Gardens since 2011
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mOmEnTs
magical

ChAPTER

EnlivEning EvERy visiT



we seek to grow a Gardens for all to enjoy. with this in mind, we put together 
a diverse spread of events during the year for the different people who 
comprise our community. Families were the focus of the children’s Festival 
and Megapalooza. taking place in June 2015, the latter event featured 
performances by shili & adi and the players theatre in addition to gigantic 
games and magic tricks to the delight of our young visitors. 

EnlivEning EvERy visiT

Music lovers were treated to a musical 
extravaganza in February 2016 when the 
singapore chinese orchestra (sco) ushered 
in the Lunar new Year with pieces such as 
spring Festival overture and Happy times, 
as well as local favourites like Di tanjong 
Katong. then in March, the singapore 
symphony orchestra (sso) presented an 
evening of well-known pieces including 
tchaikovsky’s swan Lake suite, strauss’ 
on the Beautiful Blue Danube waltzes and 
Umebayashi’s in the Mood for Love: Yumeji’s 
theme under the spH Gift of Music series.

MaGicaL MoMentsMaGicaL MoMents

A Vibrant and Inclusive Garden

in July 2015, the Gardens hosted two events 
for youth – Band Fiesta and Youth concert. 
the former saw schools bands from across 
the island entertaining visitors with their 
energetic performances, while later in 
the same month, popular local Youtube 
musicians gathered under the supertrees 
for a one-of-a-kind live performance at our 
Youth concert. 

Beyond catering to different age groups, 
our events also acknowledge the various 
interests of the public. July’s national poetry 

Festival spotlighted poetry luminaries such 
as edwin thumboo, Marc nair and ciung 
winara, while giving visitors the opportunity 
to enjoy poetry readings in singapore’s four 
official languages and hear the winning 
entries of the national poetry Festival 
competition recited by the respective 
poets. the following month, writer-in-
residence Marc nair engaged photography 
buffs and aspiring writers through writer 
in the Gardens. weaving together poetry 
and photography, the hands-on workshop 
emphasised the basics of composition and 
guided participants in shaping images and 
words into a unique narrative. 

signature Celebrations and Events

as the nation marked 50 years of  
independence in 2015, the Gardens joined 
in the festivities with a series of events and 
promotions. the Future of Us exhibition,  
which ran from 1 December 2015 to 8 
March 2016, offered visitors a glimpse 
into singapore’s future via a multisensory 
experience. a special sG50 edition of 
the Garden rhapsody show, complete 
with nostalgic songs and laser imagery, 
premiered in august. in conjunction with 
the nation’s golden jubilee celebrations, 
we launched the expanded Gift of Gardens 
programme through which voluntary welfare 
organisations (vwos) providing direct social 
services to beneficiaries and holders of  
the comcare Long term assistance scheme 
card and the Developmental Disability 
registry card can gain complimentary 
admission to the Flower Dome and cloud 
Forest. From June to December 2015, 
senior citizens were granted free entry into 
the cooled conservatories under the sG50 
seniors package. in addition, local visitors 
to the conservatories enjoyed 50% off 

mAgiCAl mOmEnTs

2,188,929
Festivals and events attendance
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nAdiAh bTE mOhAmAd AZmAn 
(second from left)

GB ambassador and Girl Guide from  
crescent Girls’ school

volunteering with the Gardens since 2013

admission fees during the four-day Jubilee 
weekend from 7 to 10 august.

Meanwhile, families received the spotlight 
as the children’s Festival in March 2016, 
adventures in Gardens of wonder, took our 
young visitors on an adventure through three 
fantastical gardens, where they spotted 
magical water creatures and listened to 
mystical tales in an enchanted garden.

at the Gardens, it is our tradition to embrace 
the celebrations of different cultures. in 
creating a unique experience of christmas 
in the tropics, 2015’s christmas wonderland 
included more Luminarie light sculptures 
in white wood and a greater variety of 
designs than in previous years, as well as 
a 24-metre-wide spalliera which framed 
the casa armonica gazebo in the supertree 
Grove. the celebrations also featured new 
attractions such as the Fairgrounds and 
a larger selection of F&B offerings, in 
addition to the return of the two-century-old 
spiegeltent and the european-style Festive 
Market. 

in september 2015, the Gardens was 
transformed with the arrival of 300 
decorative lanterns handmade by master 
craftsmen from the Zigong province in 
sichuan, china as part of our Mid-autumn 
Festival celebrations. Mid-autumn Festival 
@ Gardens by the Bay 2015 also saw the 
addition of the Goat Lantern painting 
competition, an sG50 special event which 
attracted over 200 participants. 

in celebration of Malay culture, september 
also saw us host Bulan Bahasa — a 
collection of activities including dikir barat 
performances, pencak silat demonstrations, 
poetry recitals and interactive storytelling 
sessions on singapore’s legends.

the Gardens partners external organ-
isations to bring fresh experiences to our 
visitors. in June 2015, a collaboration 
between the Gardens and institut Francais 
singapour resulted in planet ocean, an 
exhibition by famed photographer Yann 
arthur. a movie event that featured the film 
Home also took viewers around the world 
and highlighted issues on climate change.

august 2015 featured sabai by the Bay – a 
collaboration with the royal thai embassy 
in commemoration of 50 years of thailand-
singapore diplomatic relations. the highlight 
of the event was jazz performances by thai 
saxophonist Koh Mr saxman and his band, 
the sound of siam.

we also partnered the embassy of Japan in 
Blossom Beats, our cherry blossom floral 
display in March 2016. the partnership 
facilitated the showcase of traditional 
Japanese performances which were held in 
conjunction with the display.

Looking Ahead

in our quest to delight our guests and 
make the Gardens a leisure destination of 
choice for all, we seek to further grow our 
festivals and events so as to embrace the 
needs and interests of a wider audience that 
encompasses families, youth, children and 
seniors.

Gardens by the Bay’s volunteer 
programme has taught me about flora 

from all over the world and i’ve also 
acquired valuable communications 

and interpersonal skills through this 
programme, which have made me a 

more confident person! 

it brings great satisfaction whenever 
we manage to bring smiles to the 

visitors, or when they exclaim “oh!” 
when we share something new or 

interesting about the flowers or domes 
with them. i also feel very comfortable 
volunteering at the Gardens because 
the staff who work with us are very 

cheerful and supportive.

volunteering at Gardens by the Bay 
has allowed me to learn so much more 
than what is taught in school! i really 
enjoy the Gardens’ programmes as 
they are very engaging and we can 

have fun while volunteering. Making 
friends along the way is a bonus too!

Jazz performance by thai saxophonist Koh Mr saxman and the sound of siam
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A gARdEn 
fOR All
with the aim of enriching visitor experience, we extended our offering of 
complimentary guided tours for our floral displays, called the ask Me! tours,  
to twice daily. prior to this, the tours were only conducted on weekends by  
our volunteers.

EnRiChing visiTOR ExPERiEnCE

Enriching the Gardens Experience

in conjunction with the Future of Us 
exhibition held in December 2015, we 
successfully piloted a two-week trial of the 
auto rider, an autonomous vehicle that 
presents an alternative mobility option for 
visitors to savour the Gardens. the trial was 
well-received and enjoyed a ridership of over 
1,200 passengers. 

to cater to our overseas guests, an audio 
tour application (app) on ios and android 
platforms was launched in June 2015. 
available in Mandarin and Japanese, the app 
offers visitors a more insightful experience 
of the Gardens. in addition, a satellite 

visitor information counter was installed at  
Bayfront plaza, which connects to the Mrt 
station via a sheltered walkway. Besides 
providing information on directions and 
attractions, the counter also serves as the 
first touch point to receive visitors entering 
the western sector of the Gardens.   
 
we enhanced the Far east organization 
children’s Garden with new songs at the 
water play area, the addition of new child-
friendly chairs, a refreshed Kids’ open 
shower and a change of flooring to a more 
durable, weather-resistant material. 
attractive partitions were also added to 
the shower area in response to visitors’ 
feedback. 

in making the Gardens more family-friendly, 
we increased the number of baby strollers 
available for rent. alongside this, local senior 
citizens benefitted from complimentary 
wheelchair rental from 1 June to 31 
December 2015 via a partnership with a  
local wheelchair company as part of the 
sG50 celebrations. at the same time, 
step boards were installed on the shuttle 
service fleet to improve accessibility for  
handicapped passengers. 

Enhancements to the Outdoor Gardens

the year witnessed the completion of 
our lighting enhancement programme. 
LeD lamps were placed along the main 
thoroughfare of Bay south, specifically 
the outdoor gardens, water Lily pond, 
Kingfisher Lake and supertree Grove. 
visitors also gained from enhanced lighting 
along the Dragonfly Bridge, which allowed 

for improved access into the Gardens and 
better night photography. additionally, we 
brightened the Flower Dome to spotlight the 
plants, trees, floral and sculpture displays. 
the external façade lighting on the arches 
of both conservatories were also equipped 
with colour-changing capabilities, thus 
allowing them to reflect singapore’s diverse 
celebrations.

the financial year saw the transformation 
of Bayfront plaza to host the Future of Us 
exhibition. the site at the southern tip of the 
state land between the Gardens and Marina 
Bay sands became a tranquil setting with 
the addition of lush greenery and ponds. 
an iconic pavilion with a distinctive lattice 
structure was built to accommodate the 
exhibition, alongside parking areas, drop-off 
points and utility provisions to handle visitor 
arrivals to the exhibition, among other 
supporting infrastructure. 

Image credit: Ministry of National Development

enhanced LeD lighting at the Dragonfly Lake new colourful partitions added to the kids’ shower area

the new Bayfront plaza, complete with visitor information and ticketing counters, as well as a shuttle service stop
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in celebration of sG50, we opened a new 
landscaped garden in 2015. Located next to 
the waterfront promenade and across the 
silver Garden, the garden was designed to 
house a time capsule filled with memorabilia 
from singapore’s past 50 years. a sculpture 
is being planned to be positioned near the 
capsule as a marker. a key feature of the 
garden is an open manicured lawn complete 
with a variety of flowering plants, as well 
as anchor tree specimens such as Ficus 
virens, the stilt-rooted albizia lebbek and 
tamarindus indica. at its centre stands a 
Ficus benghalensis. 

the financial year also saw the addition 
of singapore’s only sizable public floral 
clock to the Gardens. Unveiled on 4 august 
2015 and made possible by luxury swiss 
watchmaker audemars piguet, the Floral 
clock showcased attractive tropical blooms 
like the spider Flower (cleome hassleriana), 
Bachelor’s Button (Gomphrena globose) 
and cockscomb Flamingo (celosia spicata), 
among others. the clock’s blooms will be 
refreshed regularly, adding to the Gardens’ 
charm.  

separately, we placed new sculptures in 
the Gardens. within the Flower Dome, the 
olive terrace received bronze sculptures 
which were contributed by four of our Board 
Directors, while 11 art pieces handpicked 
from several australian galleries were  
added to the australian Garden. in the 
outdoor gardens, the victoria Lily pond 
received a graceful swan sculpture and 
the indian Garden was decorated with lion, 
elephant and camel sculptures sourced 
from india. sculptural taishan rocks now 
adorn the Meadow and visitors benefit 
from the organic lychee wood benches in  
Bayfront plaza. 

Maintaining the Gardens 

we conduct regular maintenance to ensure 
the continued appeal of the Gardens. Beyond 
daily cleaning and general maintenance, we 
also carry out regular safety and cleanliness 
checks while ensuring the prompt 
rectifications of any irregularities for the 
best possible visitor experience.

Better Connectivity and Accessibility 

in improving pedestrian flow and connect-
ivity, footpaths along the perimeter of the 
Gardens were widened. additionally, three 
new bridges were built over the Dragonfly 
Lake to support better movement around the 
Meadow and Bayfront Mrt station.

Renewal of F&B Offerings

During the year, we made efforts to expand 
the cuisine choices for both locals and 
tourists alike. apart from the addition of an 
indian restaurant under supertree Dining, 
a McDonald’s outlet was also opened at the 
Golden Garden. the latter serves to expand 
our halal dining options, and comprises a 
new alfresco dining area which represents 
our first foray in providing an outdoor dining 
environment.

we increased our spread of breakfast 
options to cater to the morning crowd at the 
Gardens. apart from local breakfast delights 
from Hill street coffee shop and satay by  
the Bay, visitors can tuck into gourmet 
offerings at café crema, or sample the 
new breakfast menu at pollen. McDonald’s 
is also a popular breakfast destination for  
early visitors.

contributing to our stable of eateries, we 
opened our very own conservatory café  
where visitors can enjoy a wide variety of 

Visitor Numbers and  
Customer satisfaction 

over 8.8 million
total visitorship (FY2015/16)

56%
singapore citizens and permanent 
residents who visited at least once in 2015

over 24.4 million
no. of visitors since inception 

88%
overall customer satisfaction (FY2015/16)

new bridges constructed at the Dragonfly Lake

the new landscaped garden which will house the sG50 time capsule as part of the sG50 celebrations

new sculpture at the indian Garden

a GarDen For aLLa GarDen For aLL GARDENS BY THE BAY ANNUAL REPORT 2015/1649GARDENS BY THE BAY ANNUAL REPORT 2015/1648



takeaway refreshments such as beverages, 
ice cream and snacks. we partnered 
local ice cream company Udders to jointly 
develop exclusive flavours as part of the 
café’s offerings. these include the highly 
popular sG50 ice cream series which draws 
inspiration from five decades of singapore 
history and comprises five unique flavours 
— Gula Melaka with attap chee, Marvellous 
Milo, almond Longan, watermelon Lime 
with pineapple, and red velvet and cream 
cheese. 

Improved Retail Experience

During the financial year, our retail shops 
offered more than 270 new exclusive house 
brand products and added 860 new flora- 
and-fauna-related products. all in all, 
we offer a diverse selection comprising 
over 7,000 product items. our Glow in the 
Dark corner is a crowd favourite, while our 

bestsellers are small, lightweight items that 
bear the Gardens theme, such as magnets 
and key chains. Unique and convenient to 
take home, the latter were created with our 
visitors’ needs in mind.

we sought to improve the shopping 
experience through various enhancements. 
the addition of a dedicated retail page on our 
refreshed website gives visitors convenient 
access to featured merchandise and 
information on our stores such as opening 
hours and locations. we also upgraded 
the lighting at our shops to enhance the 
shopping experience.

Looking Ahead

in the upcoming year, a series of  
improvement works will be carried out.  
plans are underway to implement an 
electronic feedback form to gather visitor 

responses on site and automate data 
collation. additionally, an integrated call 
centre and centralised feedback system will 
be set up. 

Moving forward, we will refurbish the  
canopy visitor services centre and install 
a charging station for mobile devices via a 
partnership with singapore power. also in 
the pipeline are plans to set up electronic 
lockers at Bayfront plaza for our visitors’ 
convenience. 

in improving visitor comfort, our shuttle 
service will be upgraded from a 13-seater to 
a 22-seater vehicle in the second half of 2016, 
and we will also grow our fleet of wheel-
chairs for rental. More tests and research 
to refine the auto riders’ operation will be 
conducted prior to their public launch in 
mid-2016. in the following year, an enhanced 
version of our retail buggy service will also 
be revealed, allowing visitors to purchase 
souvenirs as well as beverages and snacks. 

to further enhance visitor experience, 
plans are underway to unveil our new plant  
explorer app in late 2016. a collaboration 
between Gardens’ staff across various 
departments and citrine wireless pte Ltd, 
the app targets visitors who desire more 
information about our plants beyond what is 
stated on the interpretive panels. Following 
the launch of the app, its content and features 
will be updated regularly to ensure continued 
relevance to our visitors. the existing earth 
check and +5 Degrees presentations in the 
cloud Forest will also undergo a change with 
a biodiversity theme to delight our visitors 
with refreshing content as they continue 
their roles in communicating environmental 
sustainability messages. 

our supertrees’ lighting will be improved 
to enhance the Garden rhapsody show. 
this will include the provision of darker-
coloured membrane lightings for each 
supertree to dramatically improve the  
lights’ colour saturation, the addition of an 

we signed up as FoG members 
because Gardens by the Bay is a 
wonderful place for our family to 
spend time together. it is a place 

that we can enjoy all year round – we 
always discover something new! our 

family visits the Gardens once or 
twice a month, and we often bring our 

overseas relatives and friends here  
– we like to show them around!

My fondest memory of the  
Gardens was the first time i visited 
the cloud Forest. i was awed by its 
uniqueness and the ingenuity of its 
design, as well as the clever use of 
space! My husband has very fond 

memories of playing with our children 
at the supertree Grove lawn, where  
we also enjoyed the night view and  

the Garden rhapsody.

the new conservatory cafe

suKsRi lumPRAsERT And fAmily 
Friends of the Gardens Member (Family)
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the Glow in the Dark corner at the conservatory gift shop

the auto rider is targeted for operation in mid-2016

i come to Gardens by the Bay 
about once every month, and i like 

visiting the cooled conservatories. the 
climate-controlled environment, the 

variety of plants on display,
as well as the pleasant layout of

the whole place makes for a
relaxing experience.

i was impressed on my first visit 
to the Gardens, especially with the 
two domes – i remember getting 
hit by a blast of fresh, cool air and 
being wowed by the cloud Forest 

waterfall the first time i went in! the 
Gardens have never failed to delight 
me during every visit that followed. 
there’s always something to keep 

me interested, and with the changing 
themed displays throughout the 

year, i get to enjoy many different 
experiences right here at home 

without having to travel overseas.

PRAjAn KAnsAKAR 
Friends of the Gardens Member (individual)

array of colourful, dynamic LeD dot lights 
to three more supertrees, as well as new 
moving head lights that will be suspended 
beneath the ocBc skyway to give our visitors 
fresh experiences and perspectives.  

towards the end of 2016, visitors can look 
forward to the launch of a new outdoor 
attraction that features a series of creative 
rockscapes located across the sun pavilion 
and the Far east organization children’s 
Garden. in light of the success of the Future 
of Us exhibition, the Ministry of national 
Development (MnD) has entrusted the 
Gardens with provisional management of  
the state land which hosted the former 
exhibition. Upgrading works, such as the 

development of a covered community space, 
walkways, enhanced lighting and the addition 
of toilets to better meet the community’s 
needs will be carried out.

plans are underway to enhance the power 
capacity and distribution at popular event 
venues in the Gardens such as the Meadow, 
the supertree Grove and Bayfront plaza 
community green. this upgrade will better 
equip the areas to accommodate large-scale 
festivals and events, while minimising the 
need for on-site generators and improving 
the aesthetics of these areas. the Dragonfly 
Lake boardwalk and cloud Forest will also 
receive lighting improvements in the coming 
year. 

a GarDen For aLLa GarDen For aLL GARDENS BY THE BAY ANNUAL REPORT 2015/1653GARDENS BY THE BAY ANNUAL REPORT 2015/1652



ChAPTERcommunity
EngAging OuR PARTnERs And vOlunTEERs

A

Of ChEER



a coMMUnitY oF cHeera coMMUnitY oF cHeer

A COmmuniTy Of ChEER
at the Gardens, our outreach initiatives involve partnering schools, corporations 
and individuals to engage diverse segments of the singapore community, 
promote ground-up support of the Gardens and drive visitor experience.

Partnering schools 

as part of the sG50 celebrations, we joined 
hands with the Ministry of education in 
featuring the supertrees as one of three 
iconic local landmarks in the Building  
Blocks of sG Lego bricks kit that was 
distributed to all students in singapore to 
mark the occasion. the kit also came with a 
description of the supertrees.

During the year, we actively grew our school 
engagement efforts by creating a new 
range of facilitated school programmes 
that embraced the themes of sustainability, 
conservation and identity. our efforts 
resulted in a jump in the number of 
programmes offered to 94, up from 12 in 

the previous year. our multi-disciplinary and 
modular programmes encompass diverse 
subjects and topics, thus empowering 
schools with the flexibility to tailor the  
course to suit their requirements and 
interests.

november 2015 witnessed the inaugural 
run of race to sustainability which aimed 
to instill an appreciation for conservation 
and responsible living. the amazing 
race-styled programme also heightened 
awareness of environmental issues and 
shared the Gardens’ sustainability efforts. 
students explored all parts of the Gardens 
as they worked out clues, solved puzzles and 
completed station activities.

Engaging the Community

in growing a garden for all to enjoy, we 
launched the expanded Gift of Gardens 
programme on 29 June 2015. voluntary 
welfare organisations (vwos) providing 
direct social services to beneficiaries, 
together with holders of the comcare 
Long term assistance scheme card and 
the Development Disability registry card 
now receive complimentary admission to 
the conservatories while accompanying 
caregivers enjoy a 50% discount off ticket 
prices. throughout the year, this programme 
enabled over 16,000 beneficiaries from 

253 vwos to experience the Gardens – a 
significant increase compared to over 900 
beneficiaries from 35 vwos in FY2014/15. 
Moving forward, we seek to enhance 
awareness of the programme so that more 
beneficiaries can visit the Gardens.

we also marked our first tree adoption 
on 17 June 2015 in an event that testifies 
to the growing bond linking singapore’s 
residents and the Gardens, and a common 
desire to build a true people’s garden. Mr 
andrew psarianos, an australian residing 
in singapore, adopted a Brachychiton  
acerifolius – also known as the illawarra 

volunteers participating in one of our regular fauna surveys

Total Reach in FY2015/16

EngAging OuR PARTnERs And vOlunTEERs

222,318
education programmes participants

16,123
no. of guided tours

800
no. of volunteers engaged

7,400
no. of volunteer man-hours

23,644
Friends of the Gardens (FoG) members  
as of March 2016

2,177
cumulative no. of volunteers engaged  
(since inception)
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Flame tree  –  at the secret Life of trees. 
the founder of picture perfect productions 
dedicated the tree which is native to australia 
to his late father, Mr George psarianos. the 
dedication ceremony was attended by Mr 
psarianos and his 78-year-old mother, who 
journeyed out of australia for the first time 
in 62 years to witness the occasion alongside 
other family members and friends.

Growing Our Friends and Volunteers 

we continued to win new support for the 
Gardens via our Friends of the Gardens 
(FoG) membership programme. our Friends 
received special privileges throughout 
the year, ranging from invitations to 
performances and member rates for 
workshops, to member-exclusive discounts 
at selected festive market booths and access 
to exclusive booths at our events. notably, 
our inaugural Friends of the Gardens 
Day on 23 January 2016 drew some 1,000 
Friends to the canopy for the members-

only event that included live orchestral  
jazz performances, gardening consultations 
with our horticulturists and a plant-themed 
exhibition. Friends also took home curcuma 
and Dianthus cultivars, while a lucky 
few walked away with plants propagated 
specially for the event by our horticulturists.

riding on the nation’s Golden Jubilee 
celebrations, we introduced a one-off sG50 
membership promotion, which comprised 
a 50% discount across all FoG categories 
during the Jubilee weekend. the promotion 
attracted 7,000 new Friends.

our volunteers also play an important part 
in enriching the Gardens experience for all. 
they are involved in diverse roles including 
conducting tours for visitors, assisting 
the research team in carrying out fauna 
surveys, facilitating events and workshops 
and maintaining our plant collections. 
in recognising their contributions, we 
organised a series of activities that included 

trips to nurseries and parks, horticultural 
workshops and the volunteers appreciation 
night  which was held on 22 January 2016. 

to improve communication with our 
volunteers, we launched an electronic 
newsletter, GB connects!, exclusively for 
our volunteers. the newsletter’s name 
was selected from among 70 volunteers’ 
submissions.

we also put in effort to develop both new 
and experienced volunteers and imbue  
them with the necessary skills. our maiden 
run of the volunteer Leadership programme 
received its first batch of 11 volunteers. 
Unveiled during the year, the programme 
trains and equips seasoned volunteers 
with the knowledge and skills to mentor 
new volunteers. in the following year, we 
will be expanding the volunteer Leadership 
programme while adding to our pool of 
volunteer opportunities. 

our staff, members and 
volunteers enjoyed visiting the 

Dahlia Dreams floral display at the 
Flower Dome – we were captivated  

by the blooming dahlias! 

we were also pleased to note that the 
attraction is wheelchair-accessible and 

on-site transport could be arranged 
for those with mobility issues who 
wanted to travel from the Flower 

Dome to the Future of Us exhibition.
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Editor’s NotE
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iNsidE GB - BEhiNd thE scENEs 
Dear GB Volunteers,
 
The Volunteers Team heralded Year 2016 with a 
loud bang! We organised the annual Volunteers’ 
Appreciation Night on  22 January  that saw the 
attendance of more than 200 volunteers and 
staff. The Volunteers Leader programme was also 
launched during the event. Meet our Volunteer 
Leaders in Volunteers in the Spotlight.
 
The excitement continued with the inaugural 
Friends of the Gardens Day held on  23 January, 
which welcomed nearly 1,000 members to the 
Gardens’ premises. The success of the event would 
not have been possible without the support of our 
volunteers. Read all about it in Flashback.
 
We are also very happy to welcome on board 
one of our Volunteer Leaders, Nila Ibrahim, as 
part of our Editorial Team. In this issue, Nila 
shares about her experience attending a Nature 
Hike with fellow volunteers. With the entry of 
Nila, GB Connects!, too, sees the introduction of 
a new column – Let’s Puzzle Out!. Participate in 
our quarterly puzzles and stand a chance to win 
a prize!
 
Sometimes, we receive interesting “finds” from 
our volunteers. In this issue, read about what 
Wilma found in our Gardens!
 
Happy reading!

From the Editorial Team

The clock struck 12.00am, announcing the start of another 
brand new work day. While most of us were tucked comfortably 
in bed, a crew of unsung heroes had just started work in the 
Gardens. This was the crew’s third night in the Gardens and 
they would be here for many more to ensure that the next 
Garden Rhapsody theme would be executed impeccably.

Behind each 12-minute Garden Rhapsody lies an eight-member 
team who burns weeks of sleepless nights to ensure the precise 
execution of each LED bulb and melody. 

Just how much work goes into the development and execution of a 
Garden Rhapsody show? 

• 4 weeks to finalise the musical arrangement 
• 7 to 10 nights to programme a 15-minute show
• An average of 8 to 10 hours to achieve perfect synchronisation for 2 songs 

On that particular night I was there, the team was working on a complex section of the music and 
it took them 4 hours to light and synchronise a 45-second section. 

So the next time you come by the Gardens, try to remember our unsung heroes who spent countless 
nights to bring you a fantastic show at the Gardens and share this information with our visitors!

Special thanks to Ms Teo Ying Er, Manager (Festivals & Events), and Mr Adrian Tan, Producer/Lighting Designer, The Light Project,  
for making this article possible.

Fun Trivia
There are more than 1,500 LED lights and about 40 speakers that 
can be controlled at the Supertree Grove, easily making it one of the 
most technically complex venues in the region if not the world. Our 
lighting and sound systems were specially catered and modified to 
accommodate the scale of the venue. 

“Click here to enjoy a short 
Garden Rhapsody snippet”

DISAbleD PeoPle’S ASSoCIAtIoN
vwo partner

visited the Gardens on 29 January 2016

our staff and volunteers on an outing to Labrador park  (From left to right) Ms peggy chong (Deputy ceo of Gardens by the Bay), Mrs clele white (second secretary of the australian High 
commission), Mrs Finette psarianos (mother of Mr andrew psarianos) and Mr andrew psarianos
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Collaborating with sponsors and 
Corporate Partners

the Gardens’ success today would not have 
been possible without the fervent support 
of our sponsors. their contributions have 
facilitated programmes, funded events and 
enhanced our displays, while enabling a 
greater reach to different segments within 
our community. 

among our many sponsors is pilot pen 
whose contributions to the cool Factor 
conservatories educational programme 
since 2013 and the Garden of Youth concert 
in July 2015 have benefitted the youth. the 
Gardens’ sustainability efforts in the area 
of clean technologies received a boost with 
ecowise Holdings’ contributions to the 
operating expenses of the auto riders. a 
partner of the Gardens since 2012, isetan 
Foundation continued their support of the 
upkeep and enhancement of the Golden 
Garden. samko timber also marked a 
second partnership with the Gardens by 
sponsoring Heveatech timber materials 
for the feature wall cladding along the new 
footpath connecting the Golden Garden 
to the secret Life of trees and the table 

our Girl Guides who participated in 
the GB ambassadors programme 
acquired interesting knowledge of 

plants from around the world. they 
were also challenged to be advocates 

of environment sustainability 
with a part to play in preserving 
and encouraging appreciation of 

singapore’s natural heritage.

we’re also glad to have received 
positive feedback from appreciative 
visitors who shared that the guided 

tours and family-friendly programmes 
facilitated by our Guides had enriched 

their visit to Gardens by the Bay.

this year marks GGs’ third year of 
partnership with Gardens by the Bay. 

through the various programmes 
conducted in collaboration with the 
Gardens, GGs fulfils her mission of 

providing opportunities to enable girls 
to develop their fullest potential as 
responsible citizens of the world.

one of the new sculptures donated by our Board Directors on 
display in the Flower Dome

volunteers appreciation night 2016

cladding at the adjoining alfresco dining 
area. we also welcomed on board Kwan 
im thong Hood cho temple this year, who 
generously sponsored our first-ever Goat 
Lantern painting competition, as well as 
part of the operating expenses of the 2015 
Mid-autumn Festival celebrations at the 
Gardens. Meanwhile, our Board Directors 
Mrs Mildred tan, Mr Quek suan Kiat, Mr 
Gerald tan and Mr John tan Jiew Hoe kindly 
donated handcrafted bronze sculptures 
inspired by beloved literary characters which 
adorn the Flower Dome and serve to refresh 
our displays. 

For FY2015/16, we secured over s$900,000 
in both cash and in-kind. we are thankful 
to all the corporations and individuals who 
have generously lent their support to the 
Gardens. their collective efforts enhance the 
Gardens and spur us on to shape a Gardens 
for all.

giRl guidEs singAPORE (ggs)
partner organisation

partnering the Gardens since 2013

staff with beneficiaries from the Movement for the intellectually Disabled of singapore (MinDs) in the cloud Forest
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Mr John tan Jiew Hoe (third from left) with ceo Dr Kiat w. tan (fifth from right) and 
Gardens by the Bay staff at the launch of the Begonias of the cloud Forest display

i got interested in Gardens by the 
Bay when i read about the ‘city in a 

Garden’ vision. i was further intrigued 
by the Gardens’ sustainability design 
and felt that i had to be a part of this 
exciting development – by becoming 

a volunteer. 

My volunteer experience has  
been nothing short of amazing and 
exhilarating! i had the opportunity 

to learn about Gardens by the Bay’s 
infrastructure, fauna and flora from 
around the world. i also met many 

visitors who were captivated by  
and full of praise for our Gardens,  

which made me so proud to be  
part of this unique and world- 

renowned showcase!

i’ve had the privilege of meeting 
many like-minded volunteers here, 

whom i’ve forged many unforgettable 
memories with. they are generous in 

sharing their knowledge, and give 
me a sense of belonging.

Amy hOOn
volunteer Leader

volunteering with the Gardens since 2012

Platinum sponsors
Far east organization

Gold sponsors
ocBc Bank
Mr and Mrs putra Masagung

silver sponsors
changi airport Group (singapore) pte Ltd
exxonMobil asia pacific pte Ltd
woh Hup (private) Limited
singapore technologies engineering Ltd
Mr John tan Jiew Hoe
isetan Foundation
Kikkoman (s) pte Ltd
Musim Mas Group

lisT Of sPOnsORs Bronze sponsors
Bank of america Merrill Lynch
audemars piguet (singapore) pte Ltd
swee Hong Limited
tuas power Generation pte Ltd

Donors
Bloomberg philanthropies
KLM royal Dutch airlines
Mrs Lucy Yeo
ecowise Holdings Limited
Mitsubishi corporation 
pilot pen (s) pte Ltd
samko timber Limited
cpG corporation pte. Ltd.
arabian trees & plants
Dr tan wee Khin
Kwan im thong Hood cho temple
Mr paul Quek
sony singapore
Lady Yuen-peng Mcneice
HsBc
picture perfect productions pte Ltd

supporters
Loke cheng-Kim Foundation
Mdm Go ai ching
t t J Holdings Limited
Mrs Gertrude Mary Looi
Habitat properties Group
Mr Gerald tan
Mr James Lee
aXa singapore
Mr and Mrs John Koh
elmich pte. Ltd.
Mrs Mildred tan
Mr charles Letts
clini7 pte. Ltd.
Mr richard Hale
Mr Khaw Boon wan
old chang Kee Ltd 
Mr Quek suan Kiat
ttG asia Media pte. Ltd
Mr soon sze Meng
prof a.n. rao
asian civilisations Museum
Mr Franz strigl
Ms Juanita Fu
Mr Loh Boon Huar
woon Leng nursery pte. Ltd.

Feature wall along the new footpath connecting the Golden
Garden to the secret Life of trees, built with materials 
sponsored by samko timber
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no. of applicants for the Gardens’ 
scholarship programme

a passionate teaMa passionate teaM

A PAssiOnATE TEAm
at the Gardens, our people are our greatest assets. Beyond attracting talents 
to our team, we actively develop and engage our staff to realise their full 
potential within the Gardens family.

Employee Engagement survey

with the aim of creating a garden where  
staff are proud and happy to work in, we 
embarked on our inaugural employee 
engagement survey in november 2015 to 
uncover staff’s concerns and expectations 
of their jobs and work environment, and 
use the findings to develop effective 
workplace strategies. the survey, which was 
conducted independently by an external Hr 
consultancy, enjoyed  high staff participation 
and drew good ratings in customer focus 
and confidence in the Gardens brand, high-
lighting the areas which the organisation 
has done well in. constructive feedback  

and suggestions to improve and advance the 
Gardens were also gathered in the exercise. 

Collective Agreement with AREU

november 2015 witnessed a significant 
milestone in our labour-management 
relations as we signed our first collective 
agreement (ca) with the attractions, 
resorts and entertainment Union (areU) 
– an affiliated union under the national 
trades Union congress (ntUc) that 
represents employees from the attractions, 
entertainment, lifestyle services, arts and 
cultural activities, wildlife and resorts 
industry. effective from 1 november 2015, 

staff who attended the Basic First aid course

ceo Dr Kiat w. tan giving out oranges to staff as part of our 
chinese new Year celebrations 

EmbRACing OuR PEOPlE

the ca is committed for three years and 
encompasses improved staff benefits such 
as paternity leave, flexible benefits and the 
introduction of prolonged illness leave.

Launch of External scholarship 
Programme

During the year, we participated in career 
fairs and talks, and unveiled our first 
external scholarship programme for 
individuals interested in a long-term career 
in Horticulture and plant sciences. the 
inaugural run of the programme attracted 
over 100 applicants.

in May 2015, we launched the employee 
referral scheme designed to incentivise 
and engage staff in our efforts to recruit new 
talent.

Developing Our People

we collaborate with educational institutions 
to host industrial attachments for their 
students. During the year, we took on 
60 interns from disciplines such as 
Horticulture, Hospitality and tourism, 
service Management and engineering, 
offering them work exposure with various 
departments in the Gardens.

staff training is another important focus at 
the Gardens. over the year, our employees 
clocked an average of 39.2 training hours  
per staff as we held related courses and talks 
to develop our people. service from the Heart 
is a boot camp for frontline staff and forms 
part of our drive for service excellence. the 
highly experiential and interactive course 
is designed to imbue a customer-centric 
mindset, while giving participants space to 
discuss their work challenges and learn the 
guiding principles needed to tackle them. 

Beyond courses on work processes and 
performance, we also aim to engage staff 
and promote healthy living via a series of 
staff welfare activities ranging from health 

Achievements in FY2015/16

39.2
average training hours per staff

60
no. of interns taken on board

over 100
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talks to mass workout sessions which 
included pilates, aerobics, yoga, zumba and 
kickboxing, among others. to encourage 
staff to make better food choices, healthy 
cooking demonstrations and food trails were 
organised, where a dietician educated the 
participants on how to eat right and make 
healthy food choices during a shopping trip 
to the supermarket. 

we remained committed to enhancing plant 
knowledge among our staff. a series of 
staff education initiatives spearheaded by 
the research and Horticulture team were 
launched in the year to equip our operational 
and corporate staff with knowledge on  
plants and gardens. 

to further deepen our employees’ plant 
knowledge, our research and Horticulture 
team initiated the plant worksheet 
programme. targeting both operational 

and corporate staff, the programme 
comprised plant tours, quizzes and a 
series of worksheets with information on 
selected plants in the Gardens. Beyond 
plant identification, it provided our staff with 
insights on plants and their commercial 
usage, thereby cultivating a greater 
appreciation of our Gardens’ biodiversity. 

in addition, the research and corporate 
communications teams joined hands in 
the development of six articles on plant  
taxonomy for staff. introduced in FY2014/15, 
this year-long series aimed to boost 
staff knowledge on the identification and 
classification of plants, and was featured in 
our bi-monthly staff newsletter, Baywatch.

in another initiative, our junior research staff 
were equipped with knowledge on orchid 
tissue culture techniques, soil analysis tests 
and bromeliad breeding methods. 

talks on a range of topics, from workplace 
health and safety to plants and gardens 
were organised for staff. one notable talk 
was helmed by owen newson, who holds 
25 years of horticultural experience from 
the auckland Botanic Gardens (aBG). 
the veteran nurseryman and magnolia 
expert delved into some of new Zealand’s 
interesting garden projects and gave insight 
into the landscape design of the aBG. other 
interesting lunchtime talks conducted for our 
staff included a sharing on bioremediation 
efforts in singapore where plants are utilised 
as nature’s filters to provide clean water for 
the environment. 

National Day Awards 2015

our ceo, Dr Kiat w. tan, was honoured at the 
2015 national Day awards. He is a recipient 
of the Distinguished service order.

ceo Dr Kiat w. tan (right) receiving the Distinguished 
service order from president Dr tony tan (left)

owen newson from the auckland Botanic Gardens, who visited 
Gardens by the Bay in 2015 as part of an attachment programme 

staff at work during the Dahlia Dreams floral display

jAx lOng jinxuE
executive, visitor services

with the Gardens since 2015

i’m part of the frontline team  
handling visitor enquiries at our visitor 
information counter. i also oversee the 
ask Me! guided tours and help to train 

some of our casual staff.

a good working environment has 
always been a top priority for me, and 
i decided to join Gardens by the Bay 
because i noticed that the staff here 

are always happy and smiling! My job 
constantly challenges me to think on 
my feet and give my best at work, and 
i’m glad to have found a job that i love 

and look forward to every day. 

i enjoy interacting with people  
from all over the world, and it makes 
me proud to be part of the Gardens 

by the Bay family when visitors 
express how amazing and wonderful 

the domes are!”
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BoUQUets anD BroaDcastsBoUQUets anD BroaDcasts

bOuquETs And  
bROAdCAsTs

the Gardens continued to receive prominent coverage across mainstream and 
social media locally and overseas for its floral displays and signature festivals.

EnlARging OuR REACh

Highlights of the Year  
Key Milestones

In celebration of our 20-millionth visitor, Ms 
Gowri subramanian received an invitation to 
open the christmas toyland floral display 
alongside Mr Lawrence wong, Minister for 
national Development, on 22 november 
2015. Both the floral display launch and our 
20-millionth visitor milestone were featured 
widely in local media on both traditional and 
digital platforms. 

other events that received extensive  
coverage across print, broadcast, online 

them on their respective Facebook pages. 
Dahlia Dreams was also flagged by the 
singapore tourism Board in a post on 
Yoursingapore Malaysia’s Facebook page. 

an international icon

During the year, the Gardens was  
strongly highlighted in internationally-
renowned publications and media outlets.  
For instance, Lonely planet’s guide to 
singapore featured the supertrees on 
the cover, and described the Gardens as 
a “gardens of the future”. we were also in 
their selection of top 10 places to visit in 
singapore. the supertree Grove received 
special mention in a two-page spread of the 
national Geographic Magazine’s June 2015 
issue, in which the Gardens was described 
as an ecotourism site that supports clean 
water, solar energy, sustainable practices 
and botanical diversity.

French news channel France 2 produced  
a programme on singapore where the 
Gardens was depicted as a green and 
forward-thinking attraction. over in china, 
cctv’s chinese edition of sesame street 
featured the Gardens and our various 
attractions.

staff Features

several publications ran profile stories on 
our management and staff over the year. the 
articles not only shone the spotlight on the 
people behind the Gardens but also offered 
insight into our thought leadership. these 
include the profiling of Dr Kiat w. tan in  
this Quarterly, a lifestyle magazine that 
detailed his botany background and fervour 
for nature while illustrating the design and 
development of the Gardens as a destination 
for all to enjoy; a feature on the Gardens’ 
scholarship programme and four of our 
scholars in Brightsparks, a magazine on 
scholarships and higher education; as well 
as a feature of our frontline visitor services 
and attractions operations staff in the 
straits times recruit section. 

platforms and overseas media include the 
media preview and first day public trial of 
the new self-driving vehicle, the auto rider, 
on 12 october 2015 and 1 December 2015 
respectively; the unveiling of singapore’s only 
sizable public floral clock on 4 august 2015; 
signature festivals such as Mid-autumn 
Festival @ Gardens by the Bay 2015 and the 
second edition of christmas wonderland; as 
well as key floral displays such as Blossom 
Beats, Dahlia Dreams and tulipmania 
2015. our signature displays also caught 
the attention of prime Minister Lee Hsien 
Loong and Minister for social and Family 
Development tan chuan-Jin who spotlighted 

Media Coverage for FY2015/16

$60.96 million
pr value

4,467 
Media features and mentions

Website Performance  
(Year-on-Year)

page shares

+51%
total visits

+45%
organic search traffic

+5.1%

coo Mr Felix Loh interviewed during the launch of the auto rider 
public trials

Digital Communications
website

our website anchors the Gardens’ digital 
presence. in recognising its importance, 
we enhanced the platform to facilitate 
user experience and improve relevance. 
Launched in november 2015 alongside the 
announcement of our 20-millionth visitor, 
the revamped website better positions 
our attractions and creates customised 
itineraries tailored to the needs of visitors.  
to enhance user experience on mobile 
devices, we unveiled a mobile site in February 
2016.

our 20-millionth visitor, Ms Gowri subramanian (fifth from right) and her family with Minister for 
national Development, Mr Lawrence wong, at the launch of christmas toyland
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social Media

During the year, we continued our active 
presence on social media via Facebook 
and instagram. we also received notable 
mentions across various online channels. 
the Facebook Year in review 2015 ranked  
the Gardens as the 13th most checked-
in place in the world, while tripadvisor 
singapore named us as the number one 
attraction in their list of “things to do in 
singapore”.

Marketing campaigns and 
collaborations

we    embarked   on   various   marketing   
initiatives and campaigns to drive our 
outreach efforts. the Gardens was the 

final pit-stop in china’s popular reality 
programme, Mission 24/7 (二十四小
时), which featured well-known chinese 
and taiwanese artistes including chen 
Kun (陈坤), Xu Zheng (徐峥), Leo wu  
(吴磊), Han Geng (韩庚), Da peng (大鹏) 
and Yin Zheng (尹正). produced by Zhejiang 
satellite television, the episode with the 
Gardens earned the highest viewership 
rating for that day’s timeslot.

Publications

publications, whether in-house or external, 
are a vital component of our branding and 
education efforts. our collaborations with 
various parties on Gardens-related books 
during the year have birthed two titles. the 
first is picnic Under a supertree, a children’s 

book under the Jayden and Janelle series. 
spearheaded by sisters seema Dadlani-
ramchand and Harsha Dadlani-Dhalani, 
this not-for-profit project is supported by the 
Ministry of culture, community and Youth’s 
sG50 celebration Fund. the second is a 
photography book by australian-Hong Kong 
photographer Man cheung entitled Domes: 
Flowers of Gardens by the Bay, a result 
of close collaboration with the research 
and conservatory operations teams. 
this photography book contains close-up  
images of many of the Gardens’ flora and 
offers fresh perspectives in appreciating 
them. we also produced in-house educa-
tional guides that include ecology and 
wildlife at Dragonfly Lake and Guides to 
Gardens by the Bay: aquatic Life at Dragonfly 
Lake. 

partnering with local writer David seow and 
illustrator soefara Jafney, our education 
department published the children’s 
adventure Book series which comprises 
four stories on adventures in the Gardens. 
Meanwhile, our research team developed 
and published five joint articles in three 
journals, namely, singapore Gardens 
Bulletin, thai Forest Bulletin and Journal of 
the international palm society. a new pocket 
guide book by our research team, entitled 
a pocket Guide to Fifty Beautiful Flowers of 
Gardens by the Bay, was also published in 
the financial year. 

in enhancing internal communications, we 
launched the staff newsletter, Baywatch, 
in printed format to cater to ground staff 
without email access. the newsletter 
features stronger content aimed at providing 
staff with greater insight on running a  
garden attraction as well as human interest 
stories. 

Looking Ahead

new publication projects, including a sequel 
to the popular children’s book Lost in the 
Gardens as well as a new coffee table book 
featuring the Gardens, are in the pipeline.

Meanwhile, our marketing and publicity 
efforts will receive a boost through greater 
joint collaborations with key partners. we 
will also continue to drive our foray into 
social media and harness social and digital 
media platforms to connect with our visitors 
and channel relevant information to them.

children’s adventure Book series by our education department 
in collaboration with David seow and soefara Jafney

race to sustainability activity worksheets

social Media Performance

Facebook interactions (per 1,000 fans)

146,016
total no. of Facebook fans

51.6%
increase in no. of  
Facebook fans (year-on-year)

7.6 times sinGapore 
averaGe

Domes: Flowers of Gardens by the Bay by Man cheung picnic Under a supertree by seema Dadlani-ramchand  
and Harsha Dadlani-Dhalani
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DIReCtoRS’ StAteMeNt DIReCtoRS’ StAteMeNt

The Board of directors present their statement together with the audited financial statements for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2016. 

In the opinion of the Directors, 

a) the accompanying financial statements as set out on pages 82 to 102 are drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”), the Singapore Charities Act and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Company as at 31 March 2016 and the financial performance, changes in accumulated funds 
and cash flows of the Company for the financial year ended 31 March 2016;

b) the Company has complied with regulation 15 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) 
Regulations;

c) the use of donation moneys are in accordance with the objectives of the Company as required 
under regulation 16 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; 

d) the accounting records required by the Act have been properly kept in accordance with the provision 
of the Act; and

e) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be 
able to pay its debts when they fall due.

1 DIRECTORs

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are:

Foo-Yo Mie Yoen Theresa (Chairman)
Lim Neo Chian (Deputy Chairman)
Tan Wee Kiat @ Kiat Wee Tan (Chief Executive Officer)
Ang Hak Seng
Chang Hwee Nee
Er Boon Hwee, Kenneth (Yu Wenhui, Kenneth)
Quek Suan Kiat
Sim Beng Mei Mildred 
Tan Jiew Hoe 
Tan Kwong Ming Gerald
Tan Wah Yeow
Wong Siew Hoong
Yap Chin Siang
Syed Zakir Hussain (Appointed on 1 December 2015)
Yeoh Pei Cheen Ruth (Appointed on 1 December 2015)

2 DIRECTORs’ INTEREsTs IN sHAREs AND DEBENTUREs 

Not applicable as the Company is limited by guarantee.

3 AUDITORs

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORs

Foo-Yo Mie Yoen Theresa Tan Wee Kiat
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

Singapore
30 June 2016
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INDePeNDeNt AuDItoR’S RePoRt to  
ThE mEmbERs Of gARdEns by ThE bAy

INDePeNDeNt AuDItoR’S RePoRt to  
ThE mEmbERs Of gARdEns by ThE bAy

Report on the Financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Gardens by the Bay (the “Company”) which 
comprise the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2016, and the statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in accumulated funds and statement of cash flows 
of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, as set out on pages 82 to 102.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”), the Singapore Charities Act 
(the “Charities Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising and maintaining 
a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised 
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements 
and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act, the Charities Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true 
and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2016 and the financial performance, 
changes in accumulated funds and cash flows of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company have been 
properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
use of the donation money was not in accordance with the objectives of the Company as required under 
regulation 16 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

Public Accountants and  
Chartered Accountants  
singapore

30 June 2016
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Note 2016 2015
$ $

AssETs

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6 75,015,581 46,740,754 
Trade receivables 7 4,166,433 12,136,783 
Other receivables 8 3,796,709 2,864,408 
Total current assets 82,978,723 61,741,945

Non-current asset
Property, plant and equipment 9 27,572,058 25,421,730

Total assets 110,550,781 87,163,675

LIABILITIEs AND ACCUMULATED FUNDs

Current liability
Trade and other payables 10 21,887,221 20,443,350

Non-current liabilities
Deferred donations 11 15,955,106 19,952,182 
Deferred capital grants 12 8,260,806 5,650,333 
Total non-current liabilities 24,215,912 25,602,515

Accumulated funds
Designated fund 8,579,817 5.980,508
Reserves 55,867,831 35,137,302
Total accumulated funds 64,447,648 41,117,810

Total liabilities and accumulated funds 110,550,781 87,163,675

Note 2016 2015
$ $

Revenue 13 73,468,859 55,884,635

Expenses 

Staff and related expenses 14 29,890,752 25,478,532 
Horticultural works 13,636,425 10,591,246 
Facilities maintenance 16,671,094 13,229,318 
Utilities 3,777,757 3,975,742 
Marketing and communications 5,517,628 5,033,072 
Community programmes 3,698,869 1,875,516 
Information technology maintenance 1,382,194 1,261,798 
Depreciation expense 9 6,195,599 5,661,789 
Rental for Bay South 15 3,836,000 3,020,000 
Revamping and rejuvenation expenses 15 12,366,287 9,949,094 
Maintenance of State lands including Bay East 15 2,149,717 2,084,137 
Other expenses 6,880,494 5,977,712

106,002,816 88,137,956

Deficit before government grants (32,533,957) (32,253,321)

Government grants 

Operating grants 15 35,395,006 27,915,066 
Rental subvention 15 3,836,000 3,020,000 
Revamping and rejuvenation 15 12,366,287 9,949,094 
Maintenance of State lands including Bay East 15 2,149,717 2,084,137

53,747,010 42,968,297
Deferred capital grants amortised 12 2,116,785 1,713,156

55,863,795 44,681,453
surplus for the financial year, representing  

total comprehensive income for the year 23,329,838 12,428,132

sTATEmEnT Of finAnCiAl POsiTiOn
31 March 2016

See accompanying notes to financial statements. See accompanying notes to financial statements.

sTATEmEnT Of COmPREhEnsivE inCOmE
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016
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2016 2015
$ $

Operating activities
Deficit before government grants (32,533,957) (32,253,321)
Adjustments for:

Sponsorships and donations (5,158,721) (4,563,690)
Depreciation expense 6,195,599 5,661,789 
Disposal of fixed asset 126 –
Interest income (554,306) (221,889)

Deficit before movements in working capital (32,051,259) (31,377,111)

Trade receivables 7,970,350 (933,062)
Other receivables (932,301) (112,544)
Trade and other payables 1,443,871 6,537,062 

Cash used in operations (23,569,339) (25,885,655)

Interest received 554,306 221,889 
Net cash used in operating activities (23,015,033) (25,663,766)

Investing activity
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, representing  

net cash used in investing activity (8,346,053) (7,962,565)

Financing activities
Government grants received 58,474,268 45,940,200 
Sponsorships and donations received 1,161,645 1,220,632

Net cash from financing activities 59,635,913 47,160,832

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 28,274,827 13,534,501 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 46,740,754 33,206,253 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 75,015,581 46,740,754

Accumulated funds
Designated 

fund (1) Reserves Total
$ $ $

Balance at 1 April 2014 4,864,567 23,825,111 28,689,678

Surplus for the financial year, representing  
total comprehensive income for the year – 12,428,132 12,428,132

Transfer from reserves to designated fund 1,115,941 (1,115,941) –

Balance at 31 March 2015 5,980,508 35,137,302 41,117,810

Surplus for the financial year, representing  
total comprehensive income for the year – 23,329,838 23,329,838

Transfer from reserves to designated fund 2,599,309 (2,599,309) –

Balance at 31 March 2016 8,579,817 55,867,831 64,447,648

The Company's Memorandum and Articles of Association specifically restricts the income and property 
of the Company solely to the furtherance of the objects of the Company and prohibits the payment of 
dividends to the members of the Company.

(1) This is a fund designated by the Board to be used for the upgrading of amenities and services in the Gardens.

sTATEmEnT Of ChAngEs in ACCumulATEd funds
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

sTATEmEnT Of CAsh flOws
For the financial year ended 31 March 2016

See accompanying notes to financial statements. See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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1 GENERAL

Gardens by the Bay (the “Company”) (Registration No. 201132829N) is incorporated in Singapore 
as a company limited by guarantee under the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 with its 
registered office of business at One Marina Boulevard, #28-00, Singapore 018989 and the place 
of business is at 18 Marina Gardens Drive, Singapore 018953. The Company is an Institution of 
Public Character (“IPC”) and registered charity under the Charities Act, Chapter 37. The financial 
statements are expressed in Singapore dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

Each member of the Company has undertaken to contribute such amounts not exceeding $1 to 
the assets of the Company in the event the Company is wound up and the monies are required 
for payment of the liabilities of the Company. The Company had four members at the end of the 
reporting period.

Gardens by the Bay comprises three gardens located at Marina Bay – Bay South, where the 
Conservatories are located, Bay East and Bay Central. The principal activities of the Company are 
to manage the three gardens as a premier leisure destination to provide a world-class horticultural 
exposition, an edutainment centre, and a green space for public enjoyment. Bay East has been 
developed as an interim garden, and there are future development plans for both Bay East and Bay 
Central. The Company commenced its operation with the opening of Bay South to the public on 29 
June 2012.

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2016 were authorised for 
issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2016.

2 sUMMARY OF sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost basis, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards (“FRS”).

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the 
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company takes into account the characteristics of the asset 
or liability which market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at 
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in this financial 
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that 
are within the scope of FRS 102 Share based Payments, leasing transactions that are within the 
scope of FRS 17 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not 
fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories or value in use in FRS 36 Impairment 
of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable 
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described 
as follows:

•	 Level	 1	 inputs	 are	 quoted	 prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	 active	 markets	 for	 identical	 assets	 or	
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level	 2	 inputs	 are	 inputs,	 other	 than	 quoted	 prices	 included	 within	 Level	 1,	 that	 are	
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS – On 1 April 2015, the Company adopted all the 
new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) and amendments to FRSs that are 
effective from that date and are relevant to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised FRS 
and INT FRS do not result in changes to the Company’s accounting policies and has no material 
effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior years.

Management anticipates that the adoption of the new/revised FRSs and improvements to FRSs 
that were issued as at the date of authorisation of these financial statements but effective only in 
future periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Company in the 
period of their initial adoption.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
statement of financial position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument 
and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant periods. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees 
paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where 
appropriate, a shorter period. Income or expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for 
debt instruments.

 
Financial assets

All financial assets are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale 
of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the 
time frame established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs.
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2 sUMMARY OF sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs (cont’d)

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market are classified as “loans and receivables”. Loans and receivables (including trade and 
other receivables, cash and bank balances) are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest method, 
except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash 
flows of the investment have been impacted. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of trade and other receivables where the carrying amount is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade or other receivables is uncollectible, it is 
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
are credited against the income or expenditure. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognised in income or expenditure.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the 
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
through income or expenditure to the extent the carrying amount of the financial asset at the date 
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Company derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Company neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, 
the Company recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts 
it may have to pay. If the Company retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
a transferred financial asset, the Company continues to recognise the financial asset and also 
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire.

Offsetting arrangements 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. A right to set-off must be available today rather than being contingent on a future 
event and must be exercisable by any of the counterparties, both in the normal course of business 
and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

LEASES – Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified 
as operating leases.

The Company as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
use benefit derived from the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and 
recognised on the same basis as the lease income.

The Company as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income or expenditure on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative 
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent 
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they 
are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental 
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of 
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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2 sUMMARY OF sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs (cont’d)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Capital works-in-progress included in property, plant and equipment is not depreciated as these 
assets are not available-for-use. These are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. 
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets are 
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate depreciable amounts over 
their estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold improvements 8 years
Sculpture and artwork 5 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment 3 years
Laboratory and gardening equipment 5 years
Computers 3 to 5 years
Electric and motor vehicles 3 to 8 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year 
end, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset 
and is recognised in income or expenditure.

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS – At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews 
the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in income or expenditure.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the 
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A 
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in income or expenditure.

PROVISIONS – Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

REVENUE – Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for 
the sale of goods and rendering of services, net of goods and services tax, rebates and discounts. 

Ticketing income

This arises from admission to Conservatories, OCBC Skyway and Garden Cruiser.

Income from sale of Conservatory tickets is recognised when tickets are used or expired, whichever 
is earlier. Revenue from sale of Conservatory Friends of Gardens membership is amortised over 
the period of their validity. Revenue from OCBC Skyway and Garden Cruiser tickets is recognised 
at the point of sale.

Income from rentals and venue hires

Income from operating lease rentals is recognised in accordance with the accounting policy on leases.

Income from venue hire is recognised when the event is held or the service is rendered.

Carpark income

Carpark income, which is short term in nature, is recognised on a receipt basis.

Education, guided tour and merchandise

Income from education, guided tour and merchandise is recognised when goods are sold or 
services are rendered.

DONATIONS AND SPONSORSHIPS – Donations and sponsorships are recognised as income when 
the restrictions and conditions are under the Company’s purview and it is probable that these 
restrictions and conditions would be met. If otherwise, these donations shall be recognised as 
deferred donation income until the above criteria are fulfilled or when the restrictions and/or 
conditions expire.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS – Grants received from the Government of Singapore, administered 
through the Ministry of National Development (“MND”) and its related agencies are for the purpose 
of meeting certain operating and capital expenditure.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Company 
will comply with the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received. Government 
grants whose primary condition is that the Company should purchase or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred capital grants in the statement of financial position and 
transferred to income or expenditure on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the 
related assets.
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2 sUMMARY OF sIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIEs (cont’d)

Other government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them 
with the costs for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government 
grants that are receivable as compensation or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving 
immediate financial support to the Company with no future related costs are recognised in income 
or expenditure in the period in which they become receivable.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS – Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit 
plans are charged as an expense when employees have rendered the services entitling them to 
the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the 
Singapore Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), are dealt with as payments to defined contribution 
plans where the Company’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined 
contribution retirement benefit plan.

EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT – Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when 
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a 
result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting period.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand, 
and deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTs AND KEY sOURCEs OF EsTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management 
is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimates (see below), that 
management has made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that 
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

The key features of Bay South include Conservatories, Supertrees, Heritage Gardens, and World 
of Plants.

The Conservatories are glasshouses that replicate conditions for the display of plants from 
the Tropical Highlands and Mediterranean type climatic regions of the world. They incorporate 
sustainable energy technology, minimising their environmental footprint by smart use of location, 
structure, systems and materials, intelligent design, including de-humidifying technologies 
that combined with other innovations, which result in electrical energy savings compared to 
conventional cooling technologies.

The power saving is achieved by the Biomass Co-generation System (the “Biomass System”) which 
generates electricity for the chiller to cool the Conservatories. All waste heat is simultaneously 
captured in the process to regenerate the liquid desiccant to dry the air in the two Conservatories. 
The co-generation of energy is achieved by the use of a combined heat power steam turbine that 
is fed by horticultural waste from Gardens by the Bay and sites in Singapore. The Biomass System 
is an integral part of the development of Gardens by the Bay.

The Biomass System is designed and built by a third party service provider and the construction 
of the system was initiated by National Parks Board (“NParks”), on behalf of the Government 
of Singapore, under the development master plan for Gardens by the Bay. The Company was 
incorporated to manage the operations of Gardens by the Bay, including the oversight on the 
smooth operations of the Biomass System. The operations of Gardens by the Bay are funded by 
operating surplus and government grants.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

As discussed in Note 2, the Company depreciates its property, plant and equipment over their 
estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives reflect the 
management’s estimate of the periods that the Company expects to derive future economic 
benefits from the use of the property, plant and equipment. Changes in the expected level and 
future usage can impact the economic useful lives of these assets with consequential impact on 
the future depreciation charge.

4 FINANCIAL INsTRUMENTs, FINANCIAL RIsKs AND CAPITAL RIsK MANAGEMENT

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The following table sets out the financial instrument as at the end of the reporting period:

2016 2015
$ $

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables (including cash and  

cash equivalents and excluding prepayments) 81,228,933 60,453,383

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables at amortised cost  

(excluding deferred revenue) 18,848,210 17,891,561
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4 FINANCIAL INsTRUMENTs, FINANCIAL RIsKs AND CAPITAL RIsK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives

The Company seeks to minimise the potential adverse impact arising from fluctuations in 
interest rates and the unpredictability of the financial markets. The Company does not trade 
in derivative financial instruments. The main areas of financial risk faced by the Company 
are as follows:

i) Interest rate risk management

The Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to fixed 
deposits with short-term maturities.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis has not been presented as management does not 
expect any reasonable possible changes in interest rates to have a material impact 
on the Company’s income or expenditure. 

ii) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Company.

Credit risks are controlled by the application of regular monitoring procedures. Cash 
and cash equivalents are placed with reputable financial institutions. The extent of 
the Company’s credit exposure is represented by the aggregate balance of financial 
assets at the end of the reporting period.

iii) Liquidity risk management

The Company monitors and maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents to finance 
its operations. Funding is also made available through the surplus from its operations 
and government grants.

iv) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities reported in the 
statement of financial position approximate their respective fair values due to the 
relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments. 

(c) Capital risk management policies and objectives

The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern. 

The capital structure of the Company consists of accumulated funds.

The Company’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the previous financial year.

5 RELATED PARTY TRANsACTIONs

Some of the Company’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of 
these on the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The 
balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

Key management personnel remuneration (including remuneration paid pursuant to a 
Director’s executive contract of service with the Company)

2016 2015
$ $

Short-term benefits 3,088,063 2,879,365
CPF contributions 126,040 117,535

3,214,103  2,996,900

No remuneration is paid to directors of the Company in their capacities as members of the Board.

6 CAsH AND CAsH EQUIVALENTs

2016 2015
$ $

Cash at bank and in hand 13,821,279 7,729,900 
Fixed deposits 61,194,302 39,010,854

75,015,581 46,740,754

Fixed deposits have effective interest rate of approximately 1.2% (2015 : 0.6%) per annum with 
maturities ranging from 5 to 12 (2015 : 4 to 9) months. These deposits are easily convertible to 
cash upon request.
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7 TRADE RECEIVABLEs

2016 2015
$ $

Third parties 1,091,059 776,080
Amount due from MND 3,075,374 11,360,703

4,166,433 12,136,783

The table below is an analysis of receivables:

2016 2015
$ $

Not past due and not impaired 3,848,070 11,985,202
Past due but not impaired

< 3 months 318,363 151,581
4,166,433 12,136,783

The average credit period is approximately 30 days (2015 : 30 days). No interest is charged on the 
trade receivables.

Majority of the Company’s trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are counterparties 
with good track record of credit history. There are no customers who represent more than 10% of 
the total balance of trade receivables from third parties. 

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, management considers any change in 
the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the end 
of the reporting period. Credit risk is limited due to management’s ongoing evaluation of the 
creditworthiness of the Company’s customers and that majority of the Company’s trade receivables 
are within their expected cash collection cycle. 

No allowance has been made on receivables which are past due but not impaired as management 
believes that there has not been significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still 
considered recoverable.

8 OTHER RECEIVABLEs

2016 2015
$ $

Deposits 1,738,271 1,466,191
Prepayments 1,749,790 1,288,562
Interest receivable 185,662 66,363 
Others 122,986 43,292

3,796,709 2,864,408
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10 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLEs

2016 2015
$ $

Trade payables due to third parties 6,324,802 8,494,383 
Accrued operating expenses 10,293,761 8,427,276 
Deposits 2,092,752 937,199 
Deferred revenue 3,039,011 2,551,789 
Other payables 136,895 32,703 

21,887,221 20,443,350

The average credit period on purchases is 30 days (2015 : 30 days).

11 DEFERRED DONATIONs

Donations  
for capital 
projects  

commenced Others Total
$ $ $

At 1 April 2014 15,831,246 7,463,994 23,295,240 
Received during the year – 509,567 509,567 
Transferred to donations for capital  

projects commenced during the year 2,026,038 (2,026,038) – 
Transferred to income or expenditure (3,115,280) (737,345) (3,852,625)
At 31 March 2015 14,742,004 5,210,178 19,952,182 
Received during the year – 50,000 50,000 
Transferred to donations for capital  

projects commenced during the year 1,447,421 (1,447,421) – 
Transferred to income or expenditure (2,756,750) (1,290,326) (4,047,076)
At 31 March 2016 13,432,675 2,522,431 15,955,106 

12 DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTs

2016 2015
$ $

At beginning of the year 5,650,333 4,391,586 
Grants received during the year 4,727,258 2,971,903 
Transferred to income or expenditure (2,116,785) (1,713,156)
At end of the year 8,260,806 5,650,333

13 REVENUE

2016 2015
$ $

Ticketing income 50,394,950 37,252,836 
Income from rentals and venue hires 7,641,268 6,603,546 
Carpark income 1,426,264 1,134,244 
Income from education, guided tours and merchandise 6,950,074 5,032,890 
Donations and sponsorships 5,158,721 4,563,690 
Interest income 554,306 221,889 
Others 1,343,276 1,075,540 

73,468,859 55,884,635

The total tax-deductible donations received for the year ended 31 March 2016 amounted to $832,000 
(2015 : $1,125,966).

14 sTAFF AND RELATED ExPENsEs

2016 2015
$ $

Wages and salaries 26,186,426 22,457,994 
Costs of defined contribution plans included  

in employee benefits expense 3,272,444 2,603,681
Other benefits 431,882 416,857 

29,890,752 25,478,532
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16 TAx

The Company is a registered Charity under the Charities Act, Chapter 37 and is exempt from 
income tax.

17 CAPITAL COMMITMENTs

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the 
financial statements is as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Property, plant and equipment 2,993,859 8,031,346

18 OPERATING LEAsE ARRANGEMENTs

2016 2015
$ $

As lessee

Minimum lease payments under operating leases  
recognised as an expense 4,158,916 3,369,765

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases contracted 
for at 31 March 2016 but not recognised as liabilities are as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Within one year 4,258,274 862,993 
In the second to fifth year inclusive 5,125,212 42,384 
Total 9,383,486 905,377

 
The Company leases Bay South, various equipment and off-site workers’ accommodation under 
non-cancellable operating lease arrangements. The leases have varying terms and renewal rights.
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18 OPERATING LEAsE ARRANGEMENTs (cont’d)

As lessor

The Company rent out its properties under operating leases. Rental income earned during the year 
was $4,016,100 (2015 : $3,770,173).

The future aggregate minimum lease receivable (excluding variable components) under non-
cancellable operating leases contracted for at 31 March 2016 but not recognised as receivables 
are as follows:

2016 2015
$ $

Within one year 2,032,917 1,738,370 
In the second to fifth year inclusive 2,690,685 3,609,838 
Total 4,723,602 5,348,208 
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